

ARCHIVED - Archiving Content

Archived Content

Information identified as archived is provided for reference, research or recordkeeping purposes. It is not subject to the Government of Canada Web Standards and has not been altered or updated since it was archived. Please contact us to request a format other than those available.

ARCHIVÉE - Contenu archivé

Contenu archivé

L'information dont il est indiqué qu'elle est archivée est fournie à des fins de référence, de recherche ou de tenue de documents. Elle n'est pas assujettie aux normes Web du gouvernement du Canada et elle n'a pas été modifiée ou mise à jour depuis son archivage. Pour obtenir cette information dans un autre format, veuillez communiquer avec nous.

This document is archival in nature and is intended for those who wish to consult archival documents made available from the collection of Public Safety Canada.

Some of these documents are available in only one official language. Translation, to be provided by Public Safety Canada, is available upon request. Le présent document a une valeur archivistique et fait partie des documents d'archives rendus disponibles par Sécurité publique Canada à ceux qui souhaitent consulter ces documents issus de sa collection.

Certains de ces documents ne sont disponibles que dans une langue officielle. Sécurité publique Canada fournira une traduction sur demande.



Commission for Public Complaints Against the Royal Canadian Mounted Police



Commission des plaintes du public contre la Gendarmerie royale du Canada

RCMP USE OF THE CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010

SPECIAL REPORT

SEPTEMBER 2012



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON USE BY THE RCMP, 2010: HIGHLIGHTS

INTRODUCTION

1. BACKGROUND

- 1.1 Genesis & Evolution of the Commission's Conducted Energy Weapon Work
- 1.2 Incident Management / Intervention Model
- 1.3 Subject Behaviour / Officer Response Reporting System
- 1.4 Conducted Energy Weapons General
- 2. DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSES
- **3. BIVARIATE ANALYSES**
- 4. REPORT COMPARISONS
- 5. TRENDS IN CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON USAGE
- 6. UNDERSTANDING SUBJECT BEHAVIOUR
- 7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS
- 8. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
- 9. APPENDICES

Appendix 1: RCMP Conducted Energy Weapon Policy Appendix 2: Conducted Energy Weapon Data Tables Appendix 3A: Glossary of Terms Appendix 3B: List of Abbreviations Appendix 4: References

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Commission for Public Complaints Against the Royal Canadian Mounted Police is grateful to Dr. Garth Davies for his assistance and expertise in conducting the various statistical analyses that are presented in this report.

The Commission would also like to thank Mr. Simon Baldwin of the RCMP's National Use of Force Unit for his cooperation and assistance in terms of responding to requests for data and information in a timely and comprehensive manner.

CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON USE BY THE RCMP, 2010: HIGHLIGHTS

CEW use (i.e. threatened or actual deployment of the device) dropped 14.2% in 2010 and continued a downward trend observed since 2008.

The actual deployment of CEWs by RCMP members dropped 26.4% between 2009 and 2010. The 2010 figure reflects an ongoing trend where CEWs have increasingly been used as a means of deterrence or de-escalation, without the device being deployed.

The geographic distribution of CEW reports in 2010 was quite similar to that of 2009. Nearly 80% of CEW reports were generated by the RCMP in the four Western provinces where approximately two-thirds (66.4%) of all RCMP members across Canada who were CEW-certified in 2010 were serving.

Bivariate analyses revealed that the six major factors related to CEW deployment in 2010 were *perceived substance use, incident type, subject's age, whether subject was emotionally disturbed,* RCMP *member's years of service,* and the RCMP *division* (location).

The only variable related to whether or not medical attention was required by subjects was *Deployment Mode*. The RCMP's Subject Behaviour / Officer Response Reporting System recorded far fewer injuries in 2010 than were noted in the Commission's previous annual CEW reports.

The degree of *perceived weapons involvement* in CEW-related incidents increased drastically from 2009 to 2010. It is possible that this increase is due, at least in part, to the changes in reporting requirements (i.e. the addition of the term "perceived" in RCMP members' assessment of weapons involvement).

There were a number of significant changes in the descriptive statistics between the Commission's 2009 and 2010 CEW reports. In addition to those already mentioned, *alcohol involvement*, *the number of cycles* of deployed devices, and full *cycle duration* all declined significantly.

The number of CEW incidents involving youth was higher in 2010 than it has ever been, but actual CEW deployments on youth have remained low.

CEW use in mental health incidents has decreased, with 2010 figures reverting back to 2008 levels.

INTRODUCTION

The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) responds to approximately 7,000 calls for service each day, or more than 2.5 million annually (RCMP, 2010a: 37). There are situations, however, where police officers are required to use force to achieve a lawful objective (e.g. making an arrest, acting in self-defence or protecting others). The *Criminal Code* authorizes such force so long as it is reasonable in the circumstances.

The use of force options available to the police can range from guiding a subject by the elbow, to joint locks to lethal force, if warranted. Within that range, police officers have a variety of weapons at their disposal including oleoresin capsicum (OC) spray, an expandable baton, a semi-automatic handgun and, specific to this report, a conducted energy weapon (CEW).¹

In very rare cases, RCMP members either threaten the use of a CEW or actually deploy² a device as an intervention option to control a subject. In June 2011, the RCMP provided the Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP (Commission) with 2010 CEW data from its Subject Behaviour / Officer Response (SB/OR) Reporting System. The present report, comprised of 9 sections,³ provides the results of analyses conducted by the Commission pertaining to the RCMP's use of the CEW in calendar year 2010.

¹ For the purpose of this report and to be consistent with the terminology contained in RCMP policy, the technical term of "conducted energy weapon" is used throughout the document. Other terms for the device commonly found in the popular and scholarly literature include conducted energy device (CED), electronic control device (ECD), Taser® and stun gun.

² In the present report, the terms "deployed" or "deployment" indicate that the CEW was actively engaged, using either probes or the stun setting of the device. It is important to note that deployment is distinct from "use" or "usage" where CEWs are used for any circumstances that resulted in a SB/OR report (e.g. threatened use, drawn from holster and displayed, spark display activated, laser sight activated, pointed at subject, or actual deployment of the device).

³ It should be noted that, because of the special issues that often accompany policing in Canada's northern regions, some of the Commission's previous CEW annual reports have devoted detailed attention to RCMP divisions and detachments in the North (i.e. Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut). In contrast to past years, however, there were simply too few CEW cases from the North in 2010 to attempt either generalizations or comparisons with previous years.

Part One provides readers with contextual information with respect to: (a) the genesis and evolution of the Commission's work related to the CEW; (b) the RCMP's Incident Management / Intervention Model (IM/IM); (c) the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System, which captures data and information pertaining to CEW usage by its officers; and (d) the CEW itself.

Part Two presents descriptive analyses of CEW-related SB/OR reports completed by RCMP officers between January 1 and December 31, 2010. The various analyses have been organized in a way so as to correspond, as closely as possible, with the various categories found in the SB/OR system.

Part Three examines the results of bivariate analyses.⁴ It focuses on two specific questions: (a) What factors account for whether or not the CEW is actually deployed (using either probes or stun mode)? and (b) What factors determine whether or not a subject, following an incident involving CEW deployment, is classified as injured or is offered medical transportation by the reporting RCMP member?

Part Four compares the 2010 findings with those of the previous year and also highlights significant changes over time.

Part Five investigates longitudinal trends in CEW usage and deployment.

Part Six examines both quantitative and qualitative analyses of the narrative summaries provided in the RCMP's CEW-related SB/OR reports, offering greater context around the circumstances of CEW usage by the RCMP in 2010.

Part Seven looks at two special populations that the Commission has identified as being at risk: youth aged 13 to 17, and subjects identified as being mentally ill.

Part Eight summarizes the major findings and provides recommendations.

Part Nine contains appendices consisting of the RCMP's CEW policy (Appendix 1), the various CEW data tables (Appendix 2), a glossary of terms and a list of abbreviations (Appendix 3), and references (Appendix 4).

⁴ Bivariate analyses are statistical analyses involving two variables.

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 GENESIS AND EVOLUTION OF THE COMMISSION'S WORK ON CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPONS

Use of the CEW has been of interest to the public and the Commission since the adoption of its use by the RCMP in 2001. The Commission launched its detailed assessment of the RCMP's use of the CEW in 2007, when the Honourable Stockwell Day, then federal Minister of Public Safety, asked the Commission to undertake a "review of the RCMP's protocols on the use of the CEDs and their implementation, including compliance with such protocols." This resulted in the Commission issuing the *RCMP Use of the Conducted Energy Weapon (CEW) – Interim Report* on December 11, 2007, followed by the *RCMP Use of the Conducted Energy Weapon (CEW) – Final Report* on June 12, 2008. These reports made a combined total of 22 recommendations to the RCMP.⁵

Following these reports, the Commission began to systematically analyze the RCMP's use of the CEW on a yearly basis. The first report, which examined RCMP CEW usage during calendar year 2008, was released on March 31, 2009. On June 24, 2010, the Commission released its analysis of the RCMP's use of the CEW during the 2009 calendar year.

In recent years, the use of the CEW by the RCMP has been examined in a number of Chair-initiated complaints. Resulting reports⁶ made a combined total of 45 recommendations to the RCMP, including 8 specifically related to the CEW.

⁵ The reports are available on the Commission's website at http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/prr/rep/sir/cew-ai-index-eng.aspx.

⁶ CIC reports are available on the Commission's website at <u>http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/prr/rep/rev/cic-index-eng.aspx</u>.

1.2 INCIDENT MANAGEMENT / INTERVENTION MODEL

To assist its members in deciding (and explaining) when, where and what kind of intervention strategies to use in managing incidents, the RCMP developed the Incident Management / Intervention Model (IM/IM). Essentially, the IM/IM represents the process or framework by which RCMP members assess, plan and respond to situations that threaten public and/or officer safety through justifiable and reasonable intervention.

As Figure 1 illustrates, the IM/IM is not considered to be a "use of force continuum", nor does it imply a linear path of use of force by police. Rather, the circular representation of the model infers that any level of intervention is available to the member, at any time, in order to effectively manage the suspect's corresponding level of resistance and account for situational factors and risk as assessed and perceived by the member. The IM/IM framework has the RCMP's problem-solving model known as CAPRA (Clients/Acquire and Analyze/Partnerships/Response/Assess) as its focal point (RCMP, 2011).

IM/IM Diagrammatic



1.3 SUBJECT BEHAVIOUR / OFFICER RESPONSE REPORTING SYSTEM

The RCMP's Subject Behaviour / Officer Response (SB/OR) Reporting System is a standardized method of recording subject behaviour and the use of intervention options. RCMP members are to complete a SB/OR report if they are involved in an incident where the intervention option consisted of: (a) the use of hard physical control, intermediate weapons, or lethal force; or (b) the use of soft physical control which resulted in an injury to the subject, RCMP member, or other person.

Introduced in a number of pilot jurisdictions in 2009, SB/OR reporting fully replaced the RCMP's CEW usage reports in 2010. As a result, the present report is based solely on CEW data collected through the new SB/OR Reporting System. This change in reporting mechanisms is reflected in a number of areas throughout the report.

First, there are a number of variables that are not collected as part of the SB/OR Reporting System and are no longer available for consideration. Second, there are new variables that have been added that were not part of the RCMP's previous CEW forms. Third, there are certain variables that have the same name but have changed in terms of their meaning. In some cases, the changes have been relatively minor; for example, in Table 2 (see Appendix 2), the *Setting* variable now includes a category for "Indoor and Outdoor". In other instances, however, the modification may have a greater impact on the recording, reporting and interpretation of the data; for instance, the variables *Substance Use* (Table 3 in Appendix 2) and *Possession of a Weapon* (Table 4 in Appendix 2) both are now preceded by the word *Perceived*. And, finally, the variable *Incident Type* has changed so dramatically that it is no longer comparable across reports. Under the RCMP's previous CEW reporting system, *Incident Type* was task-oriented; however, under the new SB/ OR system, *Incident Type* is now based on the nature of the offence that precipitated contact between police and the subject.

As such, the 2010 CEW datasets derived from the SB/OR Reporting System have resulted in alterations to the present report. The RCMP's previous CEW datasets were almost completely incident-driven and, for the most part, each incident generated a single report. The new SB/OR system, however, incorporates a series of filters to more accurately reflect the complexity of CEW incidents. Consequently, the SB/OR system can be best thought of as a series of several datasets. The first is based on the primary organizing unit—the occurrence or incident; in 2010, there were 597 CEW incidents. But, incidents may have several subjects and/or several events, thereby generating multiple reports. If we are specifically interested in subject characteristics (as in Table 3 in Appendix 2), subjects become the appropriate unit of analysis. The 597 incidents *Mode*. For example, separate reports may be filed for: (a) drawing and displaying of CEW; and (b) CEW deployed in push-stun mode. If we are specifically interested in event and deployment characteristics (as in Table 4 in Appendix 2), events then become the appropriate unit of analysis. The 597 incidents involved 656 event reports. In summary, each different type of analysis involves its own sample size, which is reflected in the figures and tables throughout the present report.

1.4 CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON – GENERAL

Essentially, a conducted energy weapon (CEW) is a less-lethal device that delivers high voltage, low current, electrical shocks with the intent of temporarily incapacitating a subject through involuntary muscle contractions or pain compliance. In Canada, CEWs are prohibited weapons under the *Criminal Code* and as such are not available to the general public.

Presently, the RCMP uses the M26⁷ model and the more recent and lighter X26 model. Both CEW models are manufactured by TASER International, Inc. In 2010, the RCMP had 1,112 M26 models and 2,276 X26 models in its inventory. None of the RCMP's CEWs are equipped with audio-video recording cameras.⁸

The CEW models used by the RCMP can be deployed in one of two modes: push-stun or probe.

In push-stun mode, the device is pressed against the subject and a charge is delivered through small, non-penetrating probes. In probe mode, two small barbs with wires attached are ejected from the CEW and embedded into the subject's skin or clothes; an electrical charge is then delivered through the wire tethers.

In 2010, 335 RCMP members completed the CEW User Course while another 2,653 members undertook the CEW Re-Certification Course. Of the RCMP's approximately 18,000 regular members (sworn police officers), 2,860 members were certified to carry and use a CEW in 2010.⁸

⁷ This particular model is being phased out by the RCMP.

⁸ Data provided to the Commission by the RCMP's SB/OR Project Manager on December 21, 2011.

2. DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSES

A. OCCURRENCE CHARACTERISTICS

A summary of the factors relevant to the circumstances surrounding CEW usage by the RCMP in 2010 is presented in figures 1 through 4 below, and in Table 1 (see Appendix 2).

Overall, the number of CEW occurrences dropped by 14.2% in 2010.⁹ In terms of a breakdown by RCMP jurisdiction, the number of CEW reports: increased in Saskatchewan, Manitoba and Nova Scotia; decreased in the Yukon, Northwest Territories, Nunavut, British Columbia, National Headquarters, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, and Prince Edward Island; and remained constant in Alberta, Ontario, the National Capital Region and Quebec.¹⁰

As has historically been the case, a large proportion of CEW reports were generated by the western provinces in 2010. Together, British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba contributed about 80% of all reports. This percentage was approximately the same as last year's figure (78.5%). While British Columbia produced more reports than any other province, the comparative gap was much less significant than it has been in the past. In 2009, the RCMP in British Columbia created 1.86 times as many reports (in terms of CEW usage) as the next closest province, Alberta. By comparison, the ratio was only 1.19 in 2010.

In contrast to the above, approximately two-thirds (66.4%) of all RCMP members across Canada who were CEW-certified in 2010 were serving in British Columbia (465 members), Alberta (646 members), Saskatchewan (505 members) or Manitoba (383 members) (Baldwin and Lackie, 2011: 30).¹¹

8

⁹ It is important to note that this rather dramatic decrease is, in part, due to the manner in which the data are now organized under the RCMP's new SB/OR Reporting System. As already noted, although there were only 597 incidents in 2010, these incidents involved 637 subjects and 656 events. There is little doubt that CEW usage was down in 2010, but the figure of nearly 15% is probably a bit misleading.

¹⁰ For 2009 and 2010, the RCMP's "A" Division (National Capital Region), "C" Division (Quebec), and "O" Division (Ontario) did not generate any CEW reports.

¹¹ Since 4th quarter data and, by extension, 2010 annual data broken down by RCMP division were not available from the RCMP at the time of writing this report, 3rd quarter data from 2010 pertaining to RCMP members who were CEW-certified was used as a proxy measure.

The RCMP's divisional rankings were also consistent with those of the previous year. With the exception of the Yukon, which rose from 10th in 2009 to 7th place, no province or territory moved more than two spots in the 2010 rankings. In terms of proportions of CEW reports, the largest drop (9.3%) was recorded in British Columbia. Very small drops were also present in Newfoundland and Labrador, the Northwest Territories, Nunavut and New Brunswick. Conversely, the proportion of reports attributable to Saskatchewan increased by 4.5 percent. Modest increases were also found in Nova Scotia, Alberta and Manitoba. A comparison of 2009 and 2010 figures is presented in Table 28 (see Appendix 2).



Figure 1 CEW Occurrence Characteristics: RCMP Division, 2010

*Bar values represent total number of CEW incidents per Division

With respect to *Incident Type*,¹² the three most common incidents involving CEWs in 2010 were Assault (25.8%), Mental Health (15.4%) and Assault on a Police Officer (12.7%). By aggregating the various sub-categories of assault (i.e. assault, sexual assault, and assault on police and other peace officers), all assault-related incidents represented approximately two in every five occurrences (39.2%). And, as demonstrated in Figure 2 and Table 1 (see Appendix 2), the remaining incidents were spread across a wide variety of offences and circumstances.





As has commonly been the case in the past, in 2010, the vast majority of CEW reports were filed by *General Duty* (96.5%) RCMP members with the rank of *Constable* (91.1%) (figures 3 and 4; Table 1 in Appendix 2). This is expected given that the majority of the RCMP's front-line members are uniformed constables.





General Duty Traffic Services Plain Clothes ERT Public Order Support Services

12 As noted in the Background section of the report, the *Incident Type* variable reported in Table 1 (see Appendix 2) has changed considerably when compared to the Commission's previous annual CEW reports. As a result, it will be difficult for readers to make year-to-year comparisons.



Figure 4 CEW Occurrence Characteristics: RCMP Member Rank, 2010



B. SITUATIONAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CHARACTERISTICS

The types of events that typically lead to CEW usage tend to result in more than one police officer responding to the call. On average, 3.1 RCMP members were present at CEW-related incidents in 2010 (Figure 5; Table 2 in Appendix 2). This is a slight increase from the previous year's figure of 2.8 members (see Table 29 in Appendix 2).

Figure 5 Number of RCMP Members Present, 2010



*Bar values represent total number of CEW incidents Moreover, the average number of CEW usage reports per RCMP member was 1.24 in 2010, which represented a very slight decrease compared to the previous year's average of 1.26 (Figure 6; Table 29 in Appendix 2).





There was a fairly even split with respect to whether a CEW incident occurred indoors or outdoors. In 2010, 251 (42.0%) CEW incidents took place indoors while 276 (46.2%) transpired outdoors. The remaining 70 CEW events (11.7%) involved a combination of indoor and outdoor settings (see Table 2 in Appendix 2).

C. SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS

Sex and Age

Several important subject characteristics are captured in Table 3 (see Appendix 2) and displayed in figures 7 through 10 below. The overwhelming majority (91.4%) of subjects involved in 2010 CEW-related incidents were male.

Figure 7 Subject Characteristics: Gender 2010



On average, male and female subjects were approximately 31 years of age. In addition, 7% of all subjects were 50 years of age or older. These figures are comparable to those recorded in previous years by the RCMP.

Figure 8 Subject Characteristics: Age, 2010



In 2010, there were 44 (7%) incidents involving 52 subjects under the age of 18. The proportion of CEW cases involving subjects under 18 rose from 2009 (from 5.2% to 7.4%), but the proportion of these incidents that resulted in deployment dropped from 4.0% to 1.3%. The specific nature of the 44 reports is described further in Part Seven of the present report.

Substance Use¹³

As in previous years, RCMP members perceived substance use amongst subjects in a large percentage (76.0%) of events involving the CEW. Alcohol was believed to be involved in two-thirds of all cases, while drug use was suspected in over one-quarter of incidents. While these figures are high, it is worth noting that they have been in decline over the past four years. These declines are not precipitous, but it remains unclear as to why substance use is playing a slightly diminished role in CEW incidents.

Figure 9 Subject Characteristics: Type of Substance, 2010



¹³ The RCMP's previous CEW reporting system was able to provide much more detailed information and break down the "Type of Substance" category further into the following sub-categories: "Alcohol", "Cannabis", "Cocaine", "Heroin", "Amphetamines", "Prescription Drugs" and "Other Substance". Unfortunately, the new SB/OR Reporting System now only includes the sub-categories of "Alcohol", "Drugs" and "Inhalants".



Mental Health

One of the factors that have been added to the SB/OR Reporting System concerns an assessment of the subject's mental health in CEW incidents. The proportion of subjects judged to be emotionally disturbed was just over half (Figure 10; Table 3 in Appendix 2). The phrase "emotionally disturbed" is extremely broad and lends itself to a wide margin of subjectivity and interpretation. The rate of subjects who were perceived as *Emotionally Disturbed* by RCMP members, which is approximately three times as high as the *Mental Health* incident type designation, suggests that members routinely encountered disturbed individuals in events that were not categorized as *Mental Health* events. Disturbance is evident in a preponderance of incidents involving kidnapping, weapons, and threats; and, it is often cited in cases involving disturbing the peace, obstruction, and assault. The widespread prevalence of disturbance points to the importance of understanding the intersection of CEW usage and mental health. Further discussion on this topic is provided in Part Seven of the present report.

Figure 10 Subject Characteristics: Emotionally Disturbed, 2010



D. EVENT AND DEPLOYMENT CHARACTERISTICS

Among the most significant changes to the SB/OR Reporting System is its increased emphasis on capturing subject behaviour. Figure 11 (see also Table 4 in Appendix 2) presents several of these subject-oriented variables. The general categorization of subject behaviour indicates that most subjects (84.7%) encountered by RCMP members in CEW incidents were at least actively resistant. More specifically, 18.8% of subjects were deemed *Actively Resistant*, 36.6% were thought to be *Assaultive* and 29.3% displayed behaviour consistent with the intent to cause *Grievous Harm or Death* (10% of subjects involved in CEW incidents were considered *Cooperative*).¹⁴

15

¹⁴ As described in *Part Six*, section A.1, 65 CEW incidents (9.9%) were categorized by RCMP members as involving a cooperative subject. And, 50 (76.9%) of these incidents appear to be broadly associated with what might be termed "tactical entry" or "tactical approach". In general, these are incidents in which members were serving a warrant, or were approaching a crime in progress, and where a CEW was drawn as a precaution prior to entering a residence, other building, or situation.

Figure 11 Event Characteristics: Subject Behaviour, 2010



In addition to the general query regarding the behaviour exhibited by the subject, the SB/OR Reporting System also asks RCMP members the following question: *Based on your assessment, did you perceive a threat from the subject that was greater than the behaviour being displayed during this event?* In almost half of all cases (and two-thirds of cases if "Grievous Harm or Death" is excluded, as *perceived greater threat* does not apply), RCMP members noted that there was some factor (or combination of factors) that elevated situational risk (Figure 12a).

The two variables *Subject Behaviour* and *Perceived Greater Risk* are combined in Figure 12b (see also Table 76 in Appendix 2). At each level of behaviour, most incidents demonstrated some element of elevated risk. For example, about 55% of cases involving "Assaultive" behaviour actually entailed some added level of threat. No details are provided formally in relation to this variable, but tables 77 to 82 (see Appendix 2) present a series of analyses that attempt to determine what might lead RCMP members to code for elevated risk.

Not surprisingly, the perceived presence of a weapon (Table 77) and perceived substance use (Table 79) both significantly increased the likelihood that the situation was classified as *Greater Risk*. More specifically, higher levels of risk were associated with the presence of a firearm or edged weapon (Table 78) or drug usage (Table 80). Conversely, neither the perception that the subject was emotionally disturbed (Table 81) nor the fact that the RCMP member was alone (Table 82) were related to a determination of increased risk or threat.



Figure 12b Subject Behaviour and Threat Level, 2010



The presence of a weapon was identified in over 60% of CEW events in 2010, marking a significant increase over previous years (Figure 13a; see also Table 4 in Appendix 2). This is an area that experienced a shift in language¹⁵ in the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System, possibly producing the change in the results. Nevertheless, this should not downplay the significance of the rise in the presence of weapons; it merely suggests that some proportion of the increase might be attributable to differences in the manner in which the information is currently being recorded by the RCMP compared to previous years.



Figure 13a Event Characteristics: Perceived Possession of Weapon, 2010

Figure 13b Event Characteristics: Type of Weapon, 2010



The SB/OR Reporting System now also provides greater detail in the categorization of CEW usage characteristics and *Deployment Type* (figures 14a, 14b, 14c and 14d; see also Table 4 in Appendix 2). In particular, what would have been characterized simply as "Not Engaged" in previous CEW annual reports is now broken down more comprehensively. The figures for *Deployment Type* again suggest a trend shown in earlier CEW annual reports: the continuing non-engagement of the CEW by RCMP members. In nearly 70% of events, the CEW was utilized as a deterrent rather than as a defensive weapon. In these non-engagement cases, the laser sight was activated or the CEW was drawn and displayed about half the time; in the remaining cases, the CEW was pointed directly at the subject.

18

^{15 &}quot;Possession of a weapon" is now preceded by the word "perceived" in the SB/OR Reporting System.

When the CEW was engaged, "Probes" were deployed about two-thirds of the time (Figure 14b). This proportion remains unchanged from 2009, while the proportion of all CEW-related cases involving "Contact Stun" has yet again dropped, from 14% in 2009 to 12% in 2010 (Figure 14a and Table 31 in Appendix 2).

Figure 14a CEW Usage Characteristics, 2010



Figure 14b CEW Deployment Type, 2010



Figure 14c CEW Threatened versus Deployed, 2010



One of the difficulties in trying to compare these new deployment numbers to the figures from previous CEW annual reports stems from the difference in the unit of analysis. Because the data in Table 4 (Appendix 2) is based on events, each deployment is treated as a unique situation. This is problematic if the incident in question involves multiple deployments. Of greatest interest are incidents in which a subject may receive both "Contact Stun" and "Probe" deployments. To address this issue for the purpose of the present report, it is more appropriate to consider *subjects* as the unit of analysis. In Figure 14d (see also Table 83 in Appendix 2), the most serious deployment type is demonstrated for each subject. The most notable finding is that the rate (0.8%) at which subjects experience both forms of active deployment (push-stun and probe modes) is very low. The results otherwise confirm what was demonstrated in Table 4.

Figure 14d Most Serious Usage Type by Subject, 2010



More comprehensive data on deployment characteristics are illustrated in Table 5 (Appendix 2). When CEWs were engaged in push-stun mode, subjects were, on average, stunned 1.6 times (Figure 15). More than 80% of all such events saw the subject stunned one or two times. Interestingly, the full duration of the stun cycle was used less than half the time (Figure 16). The back (34.6%), lower body (32.1%), and shoulder/arm (19.2%) target areas of subjects were the most likely stun impact sites.

Figure 15 Number of Times Stun Mode Used, 2010



Figure 16 Stun Duration versus Probe Duration, 2010



Similar to push-stun mode, probes were usually deployed only once (Figure 17a; see also Table 5 in Appendix 2). Further, when deployed in probe mode, it was not uncommon for the CEW to be cycled only once (Figure 17b); cycles of greater number occurred in only 9% of successful probe deployments. A value of *0* for *Number of Cycles* indicated that one or both probes did not make contact with the subject and, as a result, the weapon did not cycle (see also *Number of Probe Impacts* in Table 5, Appendix 2).¹⁶ The chest, back and lower body were the most common impact locations. And, in contrast to push-stun mode usage, RCMP members were more apt (60%) to employ the probe mode for a full cycle duration.



Figure 17a Number of Cartridges Fired, 2010



Figure 17b Number of Probe Cycles, 2010



¹⁶ Zero (0) probe impact indicates that neither probe made contact with the target. One (1) probe impact indicates that one probe made contact with the target, while the other probe did not. Two (2) probe impacts indicate that both probes made contact with the target. The CEW will only cycle if both probes make contact with the target.



In the vast majority (85.5%) of cases, RCMP members judged the CEW to have been effective in controlling subjects (Table 4 in Appendix 2). It should be noted that since this is a new question, there is no basis for direct comparison with previous CEW annual reports published by the Commission. However, this figure is consistent with previous questions that asked whether the CEW "avoided the use of lethal force" or "avoided injuries". The variable *Impediments* captures the circumstances in which the CEW was not considered effective. Approximately one-quarter of ineffective deployments were owing to the CEW having no effect on the subject. Secondary analyses found that all those subjects not affected by the CEW were under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. Although several potential response categories are available, the large proportion of "other" impediments suggests that the reasons for the CEW having been ineffectual were extremely diverse.

And, lastly, the *Weapon Model* section of Table 4 (Appendix 2) highlights the ongoing phasing-out of the Taser[®] M26 by the RCMP. In 2010, the M26 model was used in only 10% of events.

E. INJURY CHARACTERISTICS

Information regarding injuries is sparse within the SB/OR Reporting System. The description of injuries that was previously available through the RCMP's CEW usage reports has, unfortunately, been discontinued. In its place are, arguably, less illuminating questions.

As demonstrated in Figure 18a (see also Table 6 in Appendix 2), results show that only a small number (3.5%) of subjects were injured by CEW usage in 2010. Puncture marks which are characteristic of probe deployment are not considered by the RCMP to constitute injury. Subjects who were injured were almost always (91.3%) *offered medical attention*, and most of those who were offered medical treatment accepted. RCMP members were treated for injuries in only a fraction (1.4%) of CEW-related cases.

Figure 18a Injury Characteristics: Usage Injured Subject, 2010



Figure 18b Injury Characteristics: Subject Level of Treatment, 2010



F. SUMMARY OF 2010 DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSES

- The geographic distribution of CEW reports in 2010 was quite similar to that of 2009. Nearly 80% of CEW reports were generated by the four Western provinces (British Columbia, Saskatchewan, Alberta and Manitoba); British Columbia ranked first in the number of reports, but the gap between other "high use" provinces narrowed in 2010.
- The most common type of incident producing CEW reports in 2010 involved assaultive behaviour.
- On average, incidents involving a CEW involved three (3) RCMP members in 2010.
- In 2010, subjects involved in CEW events were predominantly male and were, on average, about 30 years old.
- Most 2010 CEW incidents (84.6%) resulted from subject behaviour that was considered to be, at a minimum, actively resistant.
- More than three (3) in five (5) incidents in 2010 concerned the perceived possession of a weapon, most notably edged weapons.
- The percentage of reports resulting in CEW *deployment* dropped significantly from 2009. This result reflects an ongoing trend where CEWs have increasingly been used as a means of deterrence or de-escalation.
- When CEWs were engaged in 2010 incidents, RCMP members deployed the device in probe mode approximately two-thirds of the time.
- Injuries to subjects resulting from CEW usage in 2010 were reported infrequently (less than 5% of all CEW events).

3. BIVARIATE ANALYSES

A. CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON DEPLOYMENT

Having established a descriptive framework in the previous section, this report now turns to bivariate relationships. In contrast to descriptive statistics, bivariate analyses allow for the testing of relationships between two variables. For example, the first set of analyses presented in this part of the report considers the relationships between CEW deployment and the various conditions surrounding the events. Specifically, chi-square $(x^2)^{17}$ analyses were conducted to compare CEW deployment (or non-deployment) with the following variables:

- Substance Use (Table 7)
- Weapons Involvement (Table 8)
- Number of RCMP Members Present (Table 9)
- Incident Type (Table 10)
- Subject's Sex (Table 11)
- Subject's Age (Table 12)
- Emotional Disturbance/Emotionally Disturbed (Table 13)
- RCMP Division (Table 14a)
- Member's Years of Service (Table 14b)

The results of the 2010 bivariate analyses for CEW deployment were consistent with those in the Commission's 2009 annual CEW report. However, two variables that were not significantly related to deployment in 2009 were identified as significant predictors in 2010: *Perceived Substance Use* and *Incident Type*. As noted earlier, both of these variables, particularly *incident type*, have changed in meaning within the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System. One new variable, i.e. whether or not the subject appeared to be *Emotionally Disturbed*, was found to be linked to higher deployment rates. In 2009, a greater *Number of RCMP Members Present* (recoded) was associated with higher probabilities of deployment. However, in 2010, there was no such relationship. Otherwise, the results remained by and large unchanged from 2009. In addition to *Substance Use* and *Incident Type*, *Subject Age*, *Member's Years of Service*, and RCMP *Division* were significant predictors of CEW deployment, whereas the remaining variables were found to have no significant relationship with deployment.

For the purpose of illustration, we begin by testing the association between CEW *Deployment* and *Substance Use* (Figure 19 and Table 7 in Appendix 2). In this case, both variables were measured dichotomously as in "yes" or "no". That is, the CEW was either deployed or it was not, and substance use was either perceived by RCMP members to be involved or it was not. The proportion of "yes" answers for CEW *Deployment* is of particular interest here. Figure 19 shows that when substance use was not involved, the CEW was deployed 22.9% of the time. However, when substance use was manifest, the proportion of cases in which the CEW was deployed rose to 35.3%. The chi-square statistic of 8.24 (at one degree of freedom [*df*]) is significant (p < 0.05). Thus, we can conclude that substance use was related to CEW usage and that it significantly increased the probability that the CEW was deployed by RCMP members.

¹⁷ The chi-square test is a widely used method for measuring whether or not a statistically significant relationship exists between two nominal or categorical variables. In the field of statistics, a result is called "statistically significant" if it is unlikely to have occurred by chance.



Figure 19 Whether CEW was Deployed by Perceived Substance Use, 2010



Incident Type (Figure 20 and Table 10), *Subject's Age* (Figure 22 and Table 12), *Emotionally Disturbed* (Figure 23 and Table 13), *RCMP Division* (Figure 21a and Table 14a) and *Member's Years of Service* (Figure 21b and Table 14b) all showed a similar pattern of a positive relationship.

Incident types have been reorganized in Table 10 to illustrate descending deployment probabilities. There are clearly a wide assortment of likelihoods, ranging from 100% for CEW-related cases involving "murder or attempted murder", over 50% for both "assault on a police officer" and "obstruction", and less than 10% for "driving while intoxicated", "disturbing the peace" and "kidnapping".

As with *Incident Type*, *RCMP Divisions* demonstrated wide variations in deployment, ranging from a low of 16.7% in the Northwest Territories to a high of 71.4% in Nunavut (Table 14a). With the exception of an increase in Nunavut (based on a very small number of cases), deployment was either stable (Saskatchewan, New Brunswick and Nova Scotia) or fell in all other provinces and territories. There were marked declines in the proportion of incidents resulting in deployment in Newfoundland and Labrador and the Yukon. Overall, the ranking of each RCMP division's CEW deployment rates correspond closely with those recorded in 2009.





27

Figure 21a Whether CEW was Deployed by Division, 2010



Figure 21b Whether CEW was Deployed by Member Years of Service, 2010



The non-linear pattern of findings for *Subject's Age* (Figure 22 and Table 12 in Appendix 2) makes the interpretation of this relationship slightly more complicated. It appears that the ends of the subject age continuum (i.e. those individuals under 20 years of age and those over 50) are driving the significant results. Subjects under the age of 20 experience CEW engagement in just less than 1 out of 5 incidents. On the other hand, the CEW is engaged in slightly less than half of cases where the subject is over 50 years of age. Between the ages of 20 and 49, differences in engagement probabilities are inconsequential.

Figure 22 Whether CEW was Deployed by Subject's Age, 2010



By comparison, the results for *Emotionally Disturbed* show a simple, direct effect: CEW engagement is more likely when the subject is deemed emotionally disturbed (Figure 23 and Table 13 in Appendix 2).





The likelihood of CEW deployment was marginally higher when the subject was *male*, but this difference was not significantly different (Table 11). And, the perceived presence of a weapon was similarly unrelated to whether or not the CEW was engaged (Table 8).

Finally, there was a significant relationship between CEW deployment and the years of service of those RCMP members involved in CEW events. In particular, members with 6 or more years of service were more apt to deploy the device than those with less years of service (Figure 21b and Table 14b in Appendix 2).

B. MEDICAL ATTENTION REQUIRED

The second issue addressed through bivariate analyses relates to the issue of injury seriousness. The RCMP's previous CEW usage reports collected information on whether subjects had been examined at a medical facility. Medical examination was taken as a rough proxy for seriousness or severity of injuries, with the caveat that subjects were sometimes taken for medical exams even if their injuries were not directly related to the use of a CEW.¹⁸ However, as noted earlier in Part Three, the present SB/OR Reporting System generates far less detail regarding the consideration of injuries. As shown in Table 6 (Appendix 2), while the SB/OR Reporting System collects data and information related to subject injuries, very few cases of injuries were reported. Medical treatment was offered in a large proportion of cases involving injury, and such offers were almost always accepted by subjects. The new *Medical Examination* variable is derived from the SB/OR variable *Subject Level of Treatment*, which is filtered to ensure that only injuries related to the use of the CEW are considered.

Chi-square (x^2) analyses were conducted using the following variables:

- Mode of Deployment (Table 15)
- Number of Cartridges Fired (Table 16)
- Number of Times Push-Stun Mode Used (Table 17)
- Multiple Cycling (Table 18)
- Substance Use (Table 19)
- Weapons Involvement (Table 20)
- Number of RCMP Officers Present (Table 21)
- Incident Type (Table 22)
- Subject's Sex (Table 23)
- Subject's Age (Table 24)
- RCMP Division (Table 25)
- Taser Model (Table 26)

It is important for readers to note that all of the following analyses were limited to circumstances in which the CEW was actually deployed.

¹⁸ For example, the subject may have been injured in the altercation that led to the CEW being deployed. In general, however, the narrative summaries extracted from the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System suggested that the medical exams were primarily related to the CEW.



Simply stated, with one notable exception, none of the variables analyzed were significantly related to medical attention. Figure 24 (see also Table 15 in Appendix 2) shows an association between *Deployment Mode* and the need for medical attention. Specifically, probe mode produced a greater proportion of medical cases than did push-stun mode.





The lack of significant results may reflect the small number of cases involving medical attention.

SUMMARY OF BIVARIATE ANALYSES OF CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON DEPLOYMENT

- *Perceived Substance Use* and a subject's *Emotional Disturbance* significantly increased the probability of deployment.
- Incident Type and RCMP Division were significant predictors of deployment.
- *Subject's Age* was a significant predictor of deployment. The relationship is not perfectly linear, but CEW deployment was less likely with younger subjects (under 20 years old) and more likely with older subjects (50 years and older).
- *Member's Years of Service* was a significant predictor of CEW deployment whereby the more years of service that a RCMP member had, the greater the likelihood of CEW deployment.
- With one notable exception (i.e. *Deployment Mode*) none of the 11 variables analyzed were significantly related to medical attention.
4. REPORTING COMPARISONS

In addition to providing descriptive statistics and exploring significant bivariate relationships, an important goal of the present report is to highlight on-going changes in the manner in which CEWs are employed by RCMP members in the field. This section analyzes historical, yearly change in two ways. First, the results from 2010 are compared with those of 2009. And, second, an examination of specific variables over a time period from 2002 to 2010 is undertaken to identify longitudinal patterns in CEW use. The results of these two sets of analyses are presented below.

A. COMPARING 2010 TO 2009

Figure 25

In this section, tables 28 through 32 compare all of the descriptive results shown in Part Three with those of the previous year, with one notable exception. There is no comparative table provided for *Injury Characteristics*, as the variables have changed too significantly to allow for meaningful comparison. As such, there is no basis upon which to examine 2010 results against historical data. A summary of the significant year-to-year changes is presented in Table 27.

With respect to CEW *Occurrence Characteristics* (Figure 25 and Table 28 in Appendix 2), there was some minor shuffling evident in the distribution of CEW reports across RCMP divisions. The most notable change was the drop of almost 10 points in the proportion of cases recorded in British Columbia. The largest corresponding increases occurred in Saskatchewan and Alberta, but only the gain in Saskatchewan was statistically significant. The figures for British Columbia and Saskatchewan are, respectively, a historical low and high. The results for *Duty Type*, particularly for "General Duty", appear, at first glance, to be quite different between 2009 and 2010. However, this divergence is likely the result of the considerable number of missing cases in 2009 compared to no missing cases in the current reporting year. If one looks only at "known" cases, the figure for "General Duty" in 2009 rises to 94.6%, a finding comparable to 2010. Similarly, controlling for missing cases, Constables account for 91.1% of CEW reports in 2009; this is an equivalent percentage to 2010.



CEW Occurrence Characteristics: RCMP Division, 2009 & 2010

According to Figure 26 (see also Table 29 in Appendix 2), CEW-related events continue to involve multiple RCMP members. On average, 3.1 RCMP members were present during CEW-related incidents in 2010. This finding was slightly higher than the average (2.8) recorded in 2009, and represents the highest annual value recorded since the initiation of the Commission's CEW Project.

The average *number of usage reports per RCMP member* remained virtually unchanged between 2009 (1.26) and 2010 (1.24) (Figure 27).

In terms of the *setting* of CEW-related incidents, the comparison had to be modified because the combined "Indoor and Outdoor" category was not available in 2009. If the numbers are revised to control for this fact, there was no substantive difference between 2009 and 2010.

Figure 26 Number of RCMP Members Present, 2009 & 2010



Figure 27 CEW Usage Reports Per RCMP Member, 2009 & 2010



There was very little change in the proportion of males and females and in the *average age of subjects* between 2009 and 2010 (Table 30). And, while the proportion of cases reported to include general substance use decreased over the two years, the difference was not quite enough to register as statistically significant. However, in the specific case of "Alcohol", the reduction in cases was significant in 2010 (Figure 28b). Alcohol involvement, while still ubiquitous, was not as prevalent as it had been in 2009 or in the Commission's previous annual CEW reports.

Figure 28a Subject Characteristics: Perceived Substance Use, 2009 & 2010



Figure 28b Subject Characteristics: Type of Substance, 2009 & 2010



Figures 29a and 29b (see also Table 31 in Appendix 2) reveal several key changes pertinent to CEW deployment. The percentage of incidents involving the *Perceived Possession of a Weapon* rose in 2010. The wording of this variable in the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System is subtly different than in the previous year; specifically, the word "perceived" was added. While this same variation had no discernible impact on the *Substance Use* variable presented in Table 30, it is possible that identifying substance impairment always has a strong subjective element and that adding *perception* to reporting is unlikely to alter that assessment. Conversely, it is possible that the addition of "perceived" to weapons possession broadened the scope of weapons involvement.

Again, this suggestion is not meant to downplay the importance of these findings. Rather, the nearly 12% increase in the percentage of events involving an edged weapon and the 3% increase in cases involving firearms suggests that a degree of caution in the interpretation of the results is warranted.





Figure 29b Event Characteristics: Type of Weapon, 2009 & 2010



The statistics on deployment continue to demonstrate a downward trend as noted in the Commission's previous annual CEW reports. CEWs were deployed in one (1) out of three (3) incidents in 2010, showing a slight decline compared to 2009. The threatened use of CEWs by RCMP members is being used more and more as a deterrent or method of de-escalation, without the device having to be deployed.



Push-stun mode is primarily used in actively combative or assaultive situations where RCMP members cannot achieve separation from the subject, as in the following case.

SB/OR Example: Push-stun mode of CEW

The subject had his hands in his pockets and RCMP member no. 2 requested that he remove them. The subject then turned to member no. 2 and said, "What are you going to do if I come at you?" While stating this, the subject clenched his right hand into a fist and motioned in an aggressive manner toward member no. 2 (who was standing on the subject's left side). Member no. 1 and member no. 2 therefore took hold of the subject on each side and put him onto the floor. Member no. 1 went to the ground with the subject, who, during this time, was still assaultive and kicked the member with both feet. Member no. 1 fell backward and hit the wall. Member no. 1 stood up and drew the CEW, as the subject was still assaultive toward member no. 2, who was trying to gain control of the subject's arms. The subject had spit in member no. 2's face and continued in an assaultive manner. The CEW was turned on by member no. 1, and the cartridge was removed. Member no. 1 leaned down and used the CEW in push-stun mode against the subject's lower back. There was no warning given for the CEW at this time, as the members were physically attempting to gain control of the subject. Member no. 1 used the CEW in push-stun mode due to the close proximity of the subject [emphasis added]. Member no. 2 was trying to take control of the subject's right hand while Security personnel tried to assist by taking control of the subject's left hand. After one cycle of the CEW, the subject was told to give the police his hands. Member no. 1 then gave Security personnel handcuffs while member no. 1 remained kneeled down with the CEW on the subject's lower back in case it was needed. Member no. 2 assisted with handcuffing the subject.

Overall, 2010 experienced a three-point decrease in the proportion of push-stun mode cases, while CEWs deployed in probe mode remained relatively stable from 2009 (Figure 30b).

Figure 30b Deployment Type, 2009 & 2010



Furthermore, both the *average number of probe cartridges fired* and the *average number of times that push-stun mode was used* showed little change from 2009 to 2010, as illustrated in the graphs below.

Figure 31a Number of Cartridges Fired, 2009 & 2010



Figure 31b Number of Times Stun Mode Used, 2009 & 2010



Moreover, while the decrease in the *average number of cycles* was not large, it was nevertheless statistically significant (Figure 32a and Table 32 in Appendix 2). Specifically, 2010 experienced far fewer cases of the CEW being cycled two or more times.

Figure 32a Number of Cycles, 2009 & 2010



Finally, 2010 marked a significant decline in cases of full cycle duration, as displayed in Figure 32b.

Figure 32b Cycle Duration, 2009 & 2010



Summary of 2009 to 2010 Conducted Energy Weapon Report Comparisons

In 2010:

- The proportion of reports where the CEW was actually engaged decreased.
- The overall proportion of CEW reports decreased significantly in British Columbia and increased significantly in Saskatchewan.
- The average *number of RCMP members present* slightly decreased, while the average *number of usage reports per RCMP member* remained stable.
- There was a significant drop in the percentage of CEW cases involving *alcohol* use.
- There was a significant increase in the percentage of cases involving the *perceived possession of a weapon* (both firearms and edged weapons).

B. ANNUAL COMPARISONS - 2002-2010

While the analyses offered in the previous section are appropriate for comparing more recent changes from 2009 to 2010, they are not able to discern potentially important long-range trends. This section attempts to identify and evaluate important historical trends in relation to the comparisons examined in Section 5A above.¹⁹

The relationship between *incident year* and *three or more RCMP members present* illustrated in Figure 33 (see also Table 33 in Appendix 2) shows an important non-linear pattern of results. In the earliest implementation years of the CEW by the RCMP, the proportion of incidents involving three or more officers was about 50%. Between 2004 and 2008, that rate stabilized at a lower proportion of around 40%. However, that rate has begun to climb in each of the past two years. The reason(s) for these increases remains unclear.



Figure 33 Three or More RCMP Members Present by Incident Year

Placed in historical context, the increase in the mean number of CEW reports per RCMP member involved in a CEW incident in 2010 is not as unusual as it first appears (Figure 34 and Table 34 in Appendix 2). Rather, 2009 was a somewhat anomalous year in terms of the number of *RCMP members with multiple reports*. The 2010 value of 30%, while still the highest recorded, is more comparable to the values reported between 2006 and 2008.

¹⁹ Chi-square is not the most appropriate statistical technique for *evaluating* longitudinal relationships, but the cross-tabulations that underlie the technique are very effective in illustrating trends. More sophisticated statistical techniques (i.e. mixed effects logistic regression models) were used to validate the chi-square results.





Figure 34 RCMP Members with Multiple CEW Reports by Incident Year

The dramatic increase in *Weapons Involvement* noted in Figure 29a (see also Table 31 in Appendix 2) is confirmed in Figure 35 (Table 35). The percentage of weapons-related CEW events has been on the rise since 2008, with 2010 recording the highest level to date. However, the jump in 2010 is far out of proportion with any change that was evident in the past. Again, it is recommended that the current figure for weapons involvement be interpreted cautiously until further investigation can properly contextualize the change in wording in the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System.



Figure 35 Whether Weapons were Involved by Incident Year

Figure 36 (see also Table 36) demonstrates that the decrease in CEW engagement between 2009 and 2010 is indicative of a much longer-term trend. From 2002 to 2004, the rate of deployment rose from 72.1% to 91.0%. Put another way, in 2004, almost all CEW occurences resulted in deployment. Since that pinnacle in 2004, the rate of deployment has declined every year. By 2007, it had essentially returned to 2002 levels. The decline between 2009 and 2010 was not as precipitous as it was between 2008 and 2009, but it was still significant. It is also worth noting that the overall number of reports dropped for the fourth year in a row.



Figure 36 Whether CEW was Deployed by Incident Year

Figure 37 (see also Table 37) reveals that, with minor fluctuations, the percentage of events where *push-stun mode was used more than once* was relatively consistent at about 37% between 2003 and 2005. The following two years experienced a slight increase in usage, followed by a sharp decline in 2008. Percentages in 2009 and 2010 seem to reflect the earlier trend in push-stun mode deployment observed in the 2003 to 2005 time period. This trend seems, at least in part, to reflect ongoing shifts in the manner in which RCMP members use CEWs. As stated previously, because push-stun mode is appropriate in very close encounters, its use is generally not optimal for officer safety. Thus, use is limited to more exigent circumstances when probes cannot be effectively used.



Figure 37 Whether Stun Mode Used More Than Once by Incident Year

The findings for cycling presented in Figure 38 (see also Table 38) display a similar stable pattern between 2003 and 2009. However, 2010 marks a notable break in this historical trend, falling to a rate of 8.6%. In other words, in the current reporting year, fewer than 10% of CEW events resulted in multiple cycling of the device. It is difficult to speculate as to the cause of this drop. Further data will be required to determine whether the 2010 result for multiple probe cycling is merely an anomaly or represents a substantive change.



Figure 38 Whether CEW Cycled More Than Once by Incident Year

43

5. TRENDS IN CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON USAGE AND DEPLOYMENT

This section of the report very briefly examines longitudinal trends in CEW usage and deployment (including cartridge and cycling characteristics).

Figures 39a and 39b (see also Table 39 in Appendix 2) present data at the Force-wide level. Again, Figure 39a illustrates the long-range trend of declining deployment rates since 2005 and the corresponding increase in the CEW being used as a tool of deterrence, particularly as of 2008.





Figure 39b (see also Table 39) shows that the total number of CEW cartridges deployed has steadily declined since 2008. Perhaps more importantly, the graph reveals a long-term trend that CEWs are more apt to be cycled only once as opposed to two or more times. In terms of the proportion of cycling, 2010 marked an all-time high for cycling the device once and a record low for two cycling, and for three or more cycling.

Figure 39b



Force-wide Trends in CEW Usage and Deployment

While the RCMP's "V" Division, "L" Division, "K" Division, "D" Division, and "M" Division each experienced higher CEW deployment rates compared to the total Force-wide average, all divisions seem to reflect the overall trends in usage and deployment. In general, there is surprisingly little variation between divisions. In addition, there do not appear to be any "red flags" or areas of concern. For a more detailed breakdown of figures at the RCMP divisional level, please refer to tables 40 through 50 in Appendix 2.

6. UNDERSTANDING SUBJECT BEHAVIOUR

In the Commission's previous CEW annual reports, the present section has been titled *Narrative Summaries*, whereby qualitative coding techniques were used to provide more detailed information on the context that gave rise to CEW incidents and to produce broad categories of CEW-related behavioural circumstances. However, the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System now includes a classification for Subject Behaviour (see Table 4, Appendix 2). As a result, Part A of this section instead tries to provide the context for these classifications. Part B, on the other hand, looks more directly at the issues of escalation and de-escalation in relation to CEW usage.

The reader should note that the examples provided herein from the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System have been included for illustrative purposes. The names of RCMP members, suspects/ subjects, victims, witnesses and locations have been redacted due to privacy issues. The majority of the narratives have been slightly re-formatted for brevity and to correct for such things as spelling, grammar and punctuation. In addition, bolded portions of the following narratives indicate that emphasis was added.

A. BEHAVIOURAL CATEGORIES

1. Cooperative

As noted in Table 4, 65 CEW incidents (9.9%) were categorized by RCMP members as involving a cooperative subject. And, 50 (76.9%) of these incidents appear to be broadly associated with what might be termed "tactical entry" or "tactical approach". In general, these are incidents in which members were serving a warrant, or were approaching a crime in progress, and where a CEW was drawn as a precaution prior to entering a residence, other building, or situation.

In a typical *tactical* case, RCMP members are called to a scene where the subject has, according to the information available, committed a serious or violent crime (often common or spousal assault) or is threatening same (usually with a weapon). In *cooperative* cases, members were able to serve the warrant or resolve the situation without resistance of any kind. In both of the following examples, the CEW was drawn before the subject was encountered.

SB/OR Example No. 1: Serving a warrant

Members were executing a warrant at a residence. The residence was well known to members as a location where alcohol was purchased and consumed. Members had reason to believe that there was a possibility of numerous intoxicated subjects being present. Members approached the residence, knocked on the door, and announced: "Police Search Warrant." This was said a number of times. There was no response from within the residence and at this point members used force to kick down the door. **Member no. 1 entered the residence with his CEW drawn, activated and at the low-ready position.** Member no. 1 entered the dwelling and located the suspect. Members were able to clear the residence with no injuries to the police or the public. The suspect complied with members' directions and demonstrated cooperative behaviour before, during and after the search with no change in behaviour.

SB/OR Example No. 2: Crime in progress

The RCMP received a complaint that a man had broken into a residence through the kitchen window. The complainant stated that the subject was violent and intoxicated, but did not know if weapons were involved. After talking to the complainant on scene, the member determined that the subject had committed break and enter. Due to the fact that the complainant was upset and believed that the subject was violent, the member feared grievous bodily harm, or even possibly death, to all involved and, as such, decided to use his/her CEW to clear the residence. The member did not know if the subject was armed with a weapon or not, nor did he/she know his state of mind or ability to harm another. The member believed his/her CEW to be the most effective, least harmful, intervention tool at the time. The member entered the residence after taking his/her CEW out of its holster. The member announced RCMP presence and went down the steps of the basement. The member announced police presence again and ordered the subject to come out. There was a small central room with three closed doors from it. The member threw open the first door, announced RCMP presence, and cleared the small furnace room from the doorway. The member repeated this sequence for the next door. The third door opened and a male stepped out. The member trained the CEW upon him and ordered him to step out to the middle of the central room and to kneel upon the floor. The member kept the CEW in the low-ready position until member no. 2 had the male under control in handcuffs. Member no. 2 removed the subject from the residence while the other member cleared the remaining rooms in the basement. At this point, the member reholstered his/her CEW.

In some incidents, tactical approach may be dictated by the RCMP members' history with the subject, as in the following example.

SB/OR Example No. 3: Subject known to police

At 4:26 p.m., member no. 1 arrived with a signed warrant, and a search for the subject began. Member no. 1 was advised that the subject was hiding in the attic, underneath the insulation, as this was the only area where the insulation had been disturbed. Member no. 1 entered the residence to assist, and member no. 2 indicated that there was a knife missing from the block of knives on the kitchen counter. **Given that the subject was known to be violent and may be armed with a knife, member no. 1 went up into the attic and took his CEW out of its holster with the laser light activated and advised the subject that the police knew he was there and that member no. 1 had a CEW trained on him. Member no. 1 immediately saw the subject's hands come up from underneath the insulation and he was advised to keep them raised so that police could see them, and to move slowly. The subject was very cooperative and complied with all directions asked of him.** He stood up on his feet and kept his hands visible the entire time.

In 8 (12.3%) cooperative incidents, the subject became immediately cooperative after a CEW was unholstered and a warning issued by police.

SB/OR Example No. 4: CEW drawn and subject cooperative

Member no. 1 arrived on scene. He could hear the subject over the hedge at the front door pounding and screaming to be let in. He appeared to have flowers in his hands but it was unclear if anything else (weapon) was present. He was a large male and, although it was the middle of the day, did not appear to be concerned about causing a disturbance. The subject then noticed member no. 1, who had his CEW drawn and at the low-ready position. Member no. 1 told the subject to go to the ground or he would be tasered with 50,000 volts of electricity. **The subject was cooperative and immediately complied with the command**. Member no. 2 arrived on scene and placed handcuffs on the subject (arrested).

In another 6 (9.2%) cases, the subject either started out as cooperative, and later became uncooperative (thereby generating a second event), or there was more than one subject and at least one was deemed cooperative.

2. Passive Resistant

Passive resistance was the smallest of the behavioural categories. Unlike the classification of "cooperative", the designation of *passive resistant* does not lend itself to easily identifiable sub-categories. Generally speaking, passive resistance refers to circumstances where subjects were uncooperative or non-compliant, especially with regard to following police officers' instructions. For example, subjects were not listening to the RCMP members' orders, but they were not yet behaving in a way that could be perceived as being actively resistant.

SB/OR Example No. 5: Passive resistant subject

Members were called to an incident where a male was stabbed by his wife. The wife was still reported to be at the location and the victim was unconscious. When members arrived, the subject was located in the bathroom. **The door was locked and she would not open it.** There was a sheet covering a hole on the door. One member ripped the sheet down and found the subject sitting on the toilet crying. A CEW was drawn and displayed to the subject, as the one-plus-one rule applied. Members believed that the subject was emotionally disturbed at the time. **When asked to come out, the subject refused and continued crying.** Eventually, through verbal intervention and de-escalation, the subject surrendered and members were able to restrain her.

In the following example, the subject was looking for a means of escape, but had not yet attempted to effect his escape.

SB/OR Example No. 6: Passive resistant subject

While RCMP officers were setting up a perimeter, the subject exited the house unexpectedly. A member told the subject to be still, but the subject hesitated for a moment. Observing that **the subject was tempted to flee**, the member deployed a CEW to prevent the subject from either entering a vehicle and leaving the scene (and possibly attempting to realize his plan to kill his ex-wife's family), or possibly using the weapon that he had in his possession to harm the officers.

In the following case, the subject hid from the RCMP members. Hiding tends to elevate the situation to active resistance, unless the subject cooperates quickly.

SB/OR Example No. 7: Passive resistant subject

A search of the residence was completed and the subject was located in the basement. **The subject was hiding underneath a mattress and was ordered to come out.** The CEW challenge was given and lethal over-watch maintained. The **subject cooperated**, the CEW was not deployed, and the subject was handcuffed. The CEW was immediately holstered and not brought out again.

Similarly, in the following example, the subject began by doing something contrary to the RCMP member's instructions but quickly complied after the CEW challenge was presented.

SB/OR Example No. 8: Passive resistant subject

The member was advised that the subject had jumped off a snowmobile near the shed out back. The member approached the shed and advised the subject that he was under arrest and to place his hands on the wall. The subject stated that he was going into the shed, and proceeded to open the door. The member feared that there were possible weapons inside the shed, as it is a common practice for the local people to store their firearms in this manner. The member drew his/her CEW and held it at the low-ready position. The member again told the subject to place his hands on the wall. The subject appeared as if he was going to enter the shed. The member pointed the CEW at the subject's centre of mass and told him to put his hands on the wall or he would be hit with 50,000 volts of electricity. **At this point, the subject complied with the commands and placed his hands on the wall of the shed.** The subject was handcuffed and the CEW was holstered.

3. Active Resistant

Active resistance is a highly varied behavioural categorization. As the term suggests, active resistance most often involves specific adversarial behaviours on the part of the subject. In 2010, active resistance on the part of subjects was identified in 123 CEW events. Over one-third (43 cases, or 35.0%) of active resistant events involved the following:

Pushing

SB/OR Example: A member attempted to arrest a subject who then became actively resistant by **pushing the police away**.

Pulling away

SB/OR Example: When the member grabbed the subject's left hand to be handcuffed, the subject **pulled his hand away** and attempted to turn toward the member.

Trying to stand up

SB/OR Example: RCMP members ordered the subject to show his hands. He did not comply and **attempted to stand up**, displaying actively resistant behaviour.

A second common type of active resistance (30 cases, or 24.4%) in 2010 involved subjects fleeing from RCMP members.

SB/OR Example: The Subject showed **active resistant behaviour by running away from members** through the hallway, turning left into the last bedroom.

Non-compliant behaviour, in conjunction with other situational characteristics, can also be classified as active resistance (20 cases, 16.3%). Subjects that were not cooperative in circumstances heightened by the presence of a weapon or threat cues were often noted as active resistant. The most common example of non-compliance that constituted active resistance involved subjects' unwillingness to show their hands. Illustrative examples of all three of these circumstances are provided below.

SB/OR Example No. 9: Non-compliant subject with weapon in view

Members responded to a complaint of an intoxicated male who had broken the window of his mother's residence. The members located the subject of the complaint in the rear yard of the residence. In his hands were an axe and a machete. He was instructed to drop his weapons and come towards the police. He turned and walked into a shed in the rear yard. RCMP members approached and he came out of the shed with the axe and machete still in his hands. **He was ordered several times to drop the weapons.** A CEW challenge was issued while lethal force over-watch was provided by other members at the scene. The subject still did not drop the axe or machete and the CEW was deployed in probe mode. He then dropped the weapons and fell to the ground.

SB/OR Example No. 10: Non-compliant subject with threat cues

Member no. 1 located a male in the north parking lot sitting alone in a gazebo. Member no. 1 observed that the male matched the description given by the complainant: dressed all in black, wearing a toque. Member no. 1 requested that member no. 2 attend his location to speak with the male. Members no. 1 and no. 2 approached the male in the gazebo. The male stood up from the bench and walked out into the parking lot. Member no. 1 told the male to stop advancing. Member no. 2 asked the male what his name was, but he did not respond. Member no. 2 subsequently **asked him three times, but the male would not speak**. Member no. 2 could see that the male was **starting to tense up his body and become agitated**. Member no. 1 commanded the subject to his knees. Member no. 2 pulled out his CEW to cover member no. 1 as he advanced on the subject. Member no. 1 was able to guide the subject to the ground without injury.

SB/OR Example No. 11: Non-compliant subject with unwillingness to show hands

The member located the subject hiding between a mattress and a wall inside the bedroom. The member could see the subject from the doorway. The subject was advised that he was under arrest for the unendorsed warrants for breach of recognizance. The member ordered the subject to show his hands and to stand up. The subject did not respond. **The member assessed the subject to be presenting actively resistant behaviour, as he was hiding and refusing to show his hands.** The member was concerned that the subject was still in possession of a knife or possibly another weapon. The member activated the laser sight on the CEW. The member advised the subject that the CEW was activated and instructed him to stand up. The subject complied. The subject was ordered onto his knees to be handcuffed. The CEW was then holstered.

The same proportion of active resistant events (20, or 16.3%) was attributable to "tactical plus" situations. More specifically, these are cases of tactical entry or approach (as defined earlier) that include subjects that are not compliant (in contrast to *cooperative* subjects).

SB/OR Example No. 12: Active resistant subject and tactical situations

Dispatch received information from a complainant that an assault had taken place. The subject was violent, intoxicated, had a hatred/personal grudge against one of the responding members and was looking for payback. The complainant stated that if the subject knew that police were on their way, he would attempt to leave and avoid police capture at all costs. The subject was well known to police and extreme caution was always taken when dealing with the subject. The Operations Communications Centre's Risk Manager advised the three members attending to wait for backup, due to the violent nature of the subject. On arrival, the members approached the front door of the residence. The subject came to the door after several knocks and police presence was announced. The CEW was trained on the subject when the subject opened the door. The subject was told to exit the house, but he refused and began walking back inside, stating that he did nothing wrong. With CEW over-watch, two members advanced and restrained the subject's arms as he began to walk into another room. The subject then became compliant and handcuffs were placed on the subject. At this point, the CEW was re-holstered.

Finally, there were 10 active resistant cases where the corresponding subject behaviour was coded as miscellaneous.

4. Assaultive

The largest category of subject behaviour was *Assaultive*, represented in 240 CEW events in 2010. The most prominent type of assaultive behaviour evident in about half of these events (110 cases, or 45.8%) included punching, kicking, spitting, and general thrashing movements.

SB/OR Example No. 13: Assaultive subject

The subject turned toward one of the members on scene and **became assaultive by clenching his fist and motioning as though he was going to punch the member**. Two members grabbed the subject by both arms and put him on the ground. The subject **kicked** one member with both feet, causing him/her to fall back and hit the wall. The subject **continued being assaultive** with member no. 2 and **spit** in her face. Member no. 1 unholstered his CEW, turned it on, and removed the cartridge. Member no. 1 used the CEW in push-stun mode due to the close proximity of the subject. Member no. 2 and a security officer were able to handcuff the subject.

SB/OR Example No. 14: Assaultive subject

The subject ran from the member and attempted to escape through a steep river bed. After failing to do so, he slipped and turned towards the member. The member continually made verbal commands to stop and advised him that he was under arrest, at which time the subject **threw numerous punches at the member in an assaultive manner in an attempt to evade arrest**. Both the member and the subject fell to the ground during the struggle. The member was able to regain his footing, at which time he drew the CEW and continued to issue further verbal commands. Member no. 2 arrived on the scene to witness member no. 1 standing with the CEW trained on the subject directions to lie flat on his stomach, but the subject continued to move around and appeared to be attempting to get up. Member no. 2 was able to gain control of the arms of the subject and handcuff him.

SB/OR Example No. 15: Assaultive subject

The subject initially refused to cooperate with the members' directions to remain inside the residence. When the subject was physically restrained with soft hand control to prevent him from walking outside, he became instantly combative and assaultive. The subject reared and bucked his body while continuing a barrage of obscenities and verbal abuse. After several more members arrived to assist in holding the subject back, he began to fight by kicking his legs, rearing his body and bucking back. The subject was forced back into the residence and the tussle ended with the subject on the stairs on his stomach. Members were still unable to restrain the subject, and member no. 1 announced to fellow members that she had a CEW. Member no. 1 removed the CEW from its holster. The subject was warned that she had a CEW and that if he did not stop fighting it would be used. The subject did not stop his behaviour and instead fought back even harder. Member no. 1 removed the cartridge from the CEW, positioned herself among the other members present, and yelled out "Taser." Member no. 1 deployed the CEW in push-stun mode against the subject's back. After the first deployment, which was held against the subject for half of the cycle, the subject resumed his assaultive behaviour and would not become cooperative or compliant. Member no. 1 deployed the CEW a second time. This time, the subject indicated that he would stop resisting. Several other members were then able to handcuff the subject.

Another significant form of assaultive behaviour in 2010 CEW incidents consisted of threat cues (77 cases, or 32.1%). Threat cues are prompts or warning signals that RCMP members recognize as precursors to more aggressive behaviour. Threat cues included such things as adopting a bladed or boxer's stance, intense staring, the clenching and unclenching of fists, and noticeable body tensing. In many cases, threat cues were exacerbated by *closing the distance*. In other words, these behaviours became even more worrisome when the subject began to move toward the officer. Earlier, it was noted that non-compliance coupled with threat cues was sometimes identified as being *actively resistant*. However, it is much more commonly classified as *assaultive*.

SB/OR Example No. 16: Assaultive subject

The member saw a male running out of the house and told him to stop, as he was under arrest. The command was given again to the subject at which point he stopped and **began walking towards the officer with his fists clenched and raised**. He was staring at the officer and appeared to be assaultive. The member drew the CEW from the holster and turned it on while ordering the subject to stop and get on the ground. The CEW was pointed at the subject using the laser sight to aim at mid-torso. The subject saw the CEW being pointed at him and repeatedly told the officer to shoot him. The member told the subject to stop and the subject charged at the officer. The CEW was deployed at the subject's mid-torso area. The CEW had a momentary effect on the subject, but then the subject continued to walk towards the member and began swinging his arms to break the wires from the CEW.

The remaining 53 assaultive events (22.1%) were more ambiguous and difficult to further classify. Often, it was simply the totality of the situation which led to the *assaultive* assessment, as in the following example:

SB/OR Example No. 17: Assaultive subject

Members were called to a bar fight and a male suspect was seen leaving the bar. The subject managed to elude the police, while members continued to search for him. The subject had reportedly broken a beer bottle over another person's head and then left the scene. A short time later, a male matching the description of the subject was seen walking back in the direction of where the fight had taken place, with a golf club in hand. Members approached and placed the subject under arrest. The subject then fled from the members. A further search for the subject was done and he was located on the front deck of his home. The subject called on the members and stated that there would be a fight if they tried to arrest him. The subject then threatened to shoot the members with a 9mm handgun and stated that they would have to take him out if they wanted to arrest him. The subject could be seen standing in his doorway but would not show his hands to the members. The subject was very belligerent with the members and would not show himself completely. The subject was believed to have just assaulted a person with a weapon, was seen carrying a golf club back in the direction of the fight, and fled police when confronted. The subject was continually aggressive towards the members and repeatedly stated that if approached, he would **fight or shoot the members**. The subject eventually retreated back into the residence. Member no. 1 gained a vantage point at the front of the house while member no. 2 maintained lethal over-watch. The door opened and member no. 1 heard what he believed to be a shot from a firearm. The other members immediately used trees and anything they could for cover. Member no. 1 heard another sound, very much like the first sound, and saw the subject standing in the doorway. At this time, however, member no. 1 could not confirm whether the subject had a weapon in his hands. Given the violent nature of the assault to begin with, and the threats uttered by the subject at members, member no. 1 deployed the CEW to prevent the subject from accessing any other weapons and to prevent any injury to members, as the subject had now escalated the incident to either shooting at members or at least throwing objects at them to try and injure them. After the subject was taken into custody, it was discovered that the subject had been throwing golf balls at the members.

5. Grievous Bodily Harm or Death

As the name suggests, this category, identified in 192 CEW events, represents the most dangerous level of subject behaviour.²⁰ In these incidents, a subject demonstrates either the intent to cause serious harm or the capacity to do the same, or both. In 2010, the most prevalent type of incidents within this category (82 cases, or 42.7%) involved subjects deemed to be suicidal. These subjects were almost always in possession (or had just been in possession) of a weapon. The following is a very typical police encounter with a suicidal subject. Notice that it was not just the RCMP members' safety that was at issue. In these cases, members were equally as concerned for the subject, along with other parties that may have been involved.

SB/OR Example No. 18: Grievous bodily harm or death

Members responded to a call for service involving a suicidal female subject who had reportedly cut her arms and her throat. Members followed a blood trail for two blocks before catching up to the subject. Once she noticed the officers, she produced a large knife (meat cleaver). The subject raised the knife over her head and demanded that the officers back away and leave her alone. The members verbally directed the subject to drop the knife. She refused. A member with a CEW arrived on scene and observed the subject with large lacerations to her left forearm and what appeared to be small lacerations to her neck and to her left leg. The subject was yelling at the officers to leave her alone and to go away. The subject continued yelling while holding the knife over her head and standing in a fighting (striking) position. Fearing death and grievous bodily harm to her, the public, and to other officers, the member produced the CEW and pointed it at the subject. The member advised the subject to drop the knife or she would be hit with 50,000 volts of electricity. The subject stopped yelling, paused for a few seconds, and then threw the knife on the ground in the direction of the two members. The subject then kneeled on the ground and placed her hands behind her back. The subject was placed in hand cuffs and transported to the hospital by ambulance.

In contrast to *assaultive* cases where subjects fight with police officers, there was a small number of cases (28, or 14.6%) where the subjects' clear intent was to do serious harm to the RCMP members.

SB/OR Example No. 19: Grievous bodily harm or death

Member no. 1 stated to the subject: "That's enough, go back to your vehicle." The subject pulled away and turned to face the member, stating: "Don't do that." Member no. 1 replied: "Then go back to your vehicle." The member still had her hand across the subject's chest when **the subject reached for member no. 1's holstered firearm with her left hand**. Member no. 1 immediately feared death or grievous bodily harm. Member no. 1's holstered firearm as member no. 1 pulled her right side back and pulled the subject into the police cruiser, while member no. 2 placed the subject into a headlock. The subject still, at this time, had a grip on the holstered firearm. Member no. 2 stated to member no. 1 that she should use her CEW. Member no. 1 unholstered the CEW which was kept on her left side in a drop holster. The CEW was deployed once by member no. 1 and the subject subsequently let go of the holstered firearm after 10 seconds. The subject was then taken to the ground and handcuffed during the CEW deployment.

²⁰ Section 25 of the *Criminal Code* of Canada empowers police officers to use as much force as is necessary in enforcing the law. In situations where a police officer believes there exists a reasonable risk of death or grievous bodily harm to any person, that section specifically authorizes him or her to use lethal force in response to the threat.



SB/OR Example No. 20: Grievous bodily harm or death

As member no. 1 attempted to open the door of the subject's vehicle, finding it to be locked, the subject threw his vehicle into drive and, revving the vehicle to high RPMs in the process, indicated his intent to drive away from the members, thus exhibiting active resistant behaviour. An arm bar technique was applied to the subject by member no. 1 as an initial attempt to have him comply with the ongoing demands to stop his actions. The subject's vehicle then suddenly became mobile as member no. 1 had a firm hold on the subject's left arm, thus pulling the member forward beside the moving vehicle. Member no. 2 observed this and felt that the subject may be holding onto member no. 1 or that member no. 1 had become entangled with the vehicle or subject in some way. Member no. 2 interpreted this as being an imminent threat to the safety and well-being of member no. 1, displaying behaviour concurrent with grievous bodily harm or death. Member no. 2 deployed OC spray in an effort to stop the threat of these actions. Member no. 2 deployed a burst of the pepper spray into the facial area of the subject just as he was beginning to accelerate down the road with member no. 1 in tow for approximately 25 feet. Members then observed the subject continue to accelerate down the road, his driving pattern continuing to deteriorate until the subject ultimately entered a ditch approximately 200 metres down the road and coming to a full stop in an open field. Given the events that had just transpired and the fact that the subject had clearly shown no regard for the safety of members, member no. 1 approached the vehicle and drew the CEW as to have an additional intervention option available should the subject continue demonstrating reckless behaviour. The subject acknowledged that he would now comply with police commands and was arrested without further incident.

SB/OR Example No. 21: Grievous bodily harm or death

The member continued to use verbal intervention in order to gain control of the situation. The member commanded the subject to get on his stomach and put his hands behind his back. The subject wiped off his face and started to yell: "I am going to fu**ing kill you!" The member continued to give him verbal commands. The subject then grabbed a rock from the ground and threw it at the member, just missing him. The subject then grabbed multiple rocks and continued to throw them at the member. The member backed up about 30 feet and protected his head/face with his left arm. The member was struck multiple times with smaller rocks. The member feared that the subject was going to strike him with a larger rock or produce another weapon, so the member pulled out the CEW and yelled: "Stop or you will be hit with 50,000 volts of electricity!" This warning was issued multiple times. The subject continued to throw rocks toward the member and ignored his commands. The subject yelled again that he was going to kill the member. He then got up on his feet and charged towards the member. The member yelled "Stop", but the subject continued to advance. At this point, the member deployed the CEW.

In 27 CEW incidents (14.1%) in 2010, grievous bodily harm was inferred from "non-compliance with additional circumstances", such as the refusal to show hands, a weapon in plain view, the presence of a possible weapon, or threat cues. There is no clear indication as to how these cases differed from similar "non-compliance with additional circumstances" that were classified as *active resistant*. In these cases, there seems to have been a degree of subjectivity or difference in interpretation on the part of the RCMP member.

Another 24 events (12.5%) involved "tactical" conditions. In some cases, the seriousness of the tactical approach was heightened by the circumstances of the call, including the subject's recent actions, and his or her criminal/violent history.

SB/OR Example No. 22: Grievous bodily harm or death

Witnesses stated that the subject was heavily intoxicated and that he was violent. Members no. 1 and no. 2 entered the residence. Previous information provided stated that the subject of the complaint was **heavily intoxicated**, had **thrown bottles at cars**, had been **swinging an axe at two individuals**, and that he was **known to carry a hunting knife** on his person. Given the information provided by the on-scene witnesses, members feared that the actions of the subject could result in death or grievous bodily harm. As such, the members responded with an intervention level of lethal force. Members no. 1 and no. 2 cleared the residence with pistols drawn. Upon locating the subject of the complaint, member no. 1 maintained lethal over-watch while member no. 2 drew his CEW X26. Member no. 2 activated the CEW, pointing it at the subject. Member no. 1 gave the subject of the complaint numerous verbal commands. The subject became cooperative with all commands. Member no. 2 holstered his CEW, then placed the subject into handcuffs for the members' safety.

Finally, there were 15 miscellaneous *grievous bodily harm or death* cases found in the CEW reports extracted from the SB/OR Reporting System.

6. De-escalation

As an intermediate force option, one of the goals of CEW usage is to de-escalate increasingly serious situations, thus avoiding the need for lethal force. This section of the report examines CEW attempts to de-escalate subject behaviour. It considers only incidents in which the CEW was drawn but not ultimately deployed, as deployment is taken as *de facto* evidence that the CEW did not function as a mechanism of de-escalation. This is not to say that the CEW should never be deployed, as CEW deployment can effectively resolve an incident in many cases. But, in terms of de-escalation, engagement does not represent a positive outcome. De-escalation also considers only those behaviours categorized as passive resistant or higher. After taking these considerations into account, the results in this section are based on 352 cases.

CEWs were judged to have de-escalated a little over half of all relevant incidents (187 cases, or 53.1%) in 2010. In the best situations, either a CEW warning or the presence of the CEW prompted the subject to become compliant.

SB/OR Example No. 23: De-escalation

The subject was off his medication. He was believed to be in possession of a knife. The subject was in his room. The member walked to the doorway and asked the subject to exit the room, informing him that he was under arrest under the *Mental Health Act*. The subject refused to leave and stated, "F**k you," clenched his fists, and took a bladed stance. The member drew his CEW, prompting the **subject to back off and drop his fists so that his hands were visible**. The members controlled the subject with soft physical control and placed him in handcuffs. The subject was then transported to the detachment for further processing.

In other cases, the subject may not have been completely cooperative, but the threat level was reduced. In the following example, one of the subjects remained non-compliant, but the presence of the CEW appeared to have "calmed the situation" enough for members to take the subject into custody.

SB/OR Example No. 24: De-escalation

Police were flagged down by a male stating that a fight was about to occur in a nearby building complex. Police responded to the area where they heard yelling and observed five males and one female. Two of the males had their shirts off and started to exchange punches. They were deemed to be assaultive towards each other in a consensual fight. Police approached the subjects and announced their presence by saying, "Police! Stop!" in a loud voice. The subjects did not stop, and the rest of the bystanders became involved in the fight. There were five males grouped together. It was noted that, at one point, one male was on another male's back. At another point, one of the males fell on the ground and was being kicked. The fight eventually split up into two separate groups: one with three males, and one with two. Police got close to the fight and announced their presence again, but the fight continued and the males continued to display assaultive behaviour towards each other. Member no. 1 unholstered his CEW and advised them that they were all under arrest for causing a disturbance. The sight of the CEW and the verbal commands were not effective in prompting the subjects until the CEW was actually pointed at them and the CEW challenge issued. One of the subjects would not take his hands out of his pockets while in a prone position, but a member was able to force compliance by using empty hand soft techniques, putting a joint lock on the subject. All subjects involved then became cooperative and were taken into custody without further incident.

On occasion, de-escalation was not immediate. It may have taken a couple of warnings to achieve compliance.

SB/OR Example No. 25: De-escalation

The member attended the subject's residence to arrest him for breaching his probation order. The member was invited in by the subject's mother and step-father. The member then spoke to the subject in the entryway and informed him that he was under arrest for breach and would be spending the night in custody. The subject appeared to understand. He started to cry and went over to hug his mother. After the hug, the subject then proceeded to walk into the kitchen, so the member detained the subject by grabbing his arm and again informing him that he was under arrest. The subject pulled away from the member and said: "Don"t touch me." It was at this point that the subject reached for a knife on the kitchen counter, turned away from the member, stabbed his own stomach, and fell to the floor. The weapon was a butter knife and was thrown off to the side by the subject. The kitchen was very small; the subject's mother was on his right side and his girlfriend was on his left, while his father was also in the kitchen. Due to the small size of the room and the number of people present, the member got on the subject's back, unholstered his CEW and turned it on. The CEW was placed in the back of the subject and the member demanded that the subject put his hands behind his back. The subject refused and grabbed a hold of the kitchen table. The member gave the subject the CEW warning and told him again to put his hands behind his back. The subject then put his hands around his back and was handcuffed.

In 164 of the remaining 165 cases, the CEW was deemed to have been ineffective in de-escalating the situation; 56 of these cases (15.9%) were considered "tactical" in nature.

57

In the following case, the CEW was drawn as part of a breach of probation incident. The breach concluded without the RCMP members having a chance to de-escalate the situation.

SB/OR Example No. 26

Members received a complaint that a subject had been drinking and had returned home causing problems. The subject then grabbed a knife from the kitchen and barricaded herself in the bathroom. Family members were scared and would not attempt to enter the room. Members responding to the incident had numerous dealings with the subject over the past six months and she was known to have had attacked one of the members in a previous incident. Members arrived on scene and met the subject's father outside the residence. He advised the police that the subject had been drinking, came home and began causing problems for him and his family, grabbed a knife, and entered the bathroom. The members entered the residence observing approximately five persons, including a lady in a wheel chair and two children. The members were directed to the bathroom where they were told the subject was barricaded. The members attempted to talk the subject out of the bathroom but she was uncooperative and yelling at the police and her family. The members advised the subject that if the door was not opened, it would be forced open. A member withdrew his CEW from its holster and armed it, as members feared death or grievous bodily harm due to the information that the subject may have a knife. The members forced the door open, pointing the CEW at the subject, observed that the subject's hands were empty, reached in and grabbed the subject by the wrists and pulled her to the floor in the hallway. The subject was secured in handcuffs and the CEW was re-holstered.

There is no systematic explanation as to why the CEW did not de-escalate the remaining incidents. The reasons were highly variable.

In some cases, RCMP members were required to use force despite the presence of the CEW.

SB/OR Example No. 27

It was dark in the residence. Members approached the subject, who was face down with his hands hidden. Member no. 1 kept the CEW trained on the subject while member no. 2 went hands-on to arrest the subject. The subject became highly resistant at this time. Member no. 1 issued the CEW challenge, **but the subject did not respond**. Eventually, member no. 1 re-holstered the CEW and assisted member no. 2 in getting the subject's hands out from under his body and placing him in handcuffs.

In other cases, negotiation and communication skills, rather than the CEW, were effective in bringing an incident to its successful conclusion.

SB/OR Example No. 28

Members already on shift had located a suicidal male who had left the hospital and had stated that he was going to have the police kill him. They called for a CEW, as no members on scene had one. A member departed for the incident from the detachment, carrying a CEW. When the member arrived on scene, he took cover behind the police vehicle beside the subject. Five members had their firearms drawn and one officer was verbally engaging the male, who was holding a knife up to his throat. After approximately 30 minutes, the subject threw his knife down and complied with police direction to kneel down, then lay on his stomach to be handcuffed.

On occasion, the CEW was used to maintain cover in incidents that were essentially resolved.

SB/OR Example No. 29

The subject was still resistant, pulling his arms away from members and under his body. The subject tensed every muscle in his body and pulled away as member no. 1 placed handcuffs on the subject while member no. 2 maintained cover with the CEW in case that escalation of force became necessary. Once the subject was handcuffed, the CEW was turned off and re-holstered.

And, sometimes, despite the presence of a CEW, incidents just seemed to more or less sort themselves out.

SB/OR Example No. 30

The subject became actively resistant again by pulling away from hospital staff. The member attempted to intervene to assist with the subject, but the subject quickly became assaultive towards the member by clenching his fists and stating that he was going to beat up the member. The subject began to approach the member with his fists still clenched. As a result of the subject's emotional state, the member feared bodily harm and unholstered the CEW. The subject stated to the member. The subject then turned and walked away from the member. The member did not deploy the CEW, but did point it at the subject and issued the CEW challenge. The subject then changed direction and started to walk toward the hospital where he was met by his mother. The subject was subsequently admitted by his mother to a psychiatric hospital overnight for further observation and assessment.

RCMP training warns against the over-use of the CEW as a means of compliance. Members are instructed to assess the appropriateness of CEW use based on the ineffectiveness of, for example, officer presence, communication skills, police instructions/commands, or direct physical attempts at control without a weapon, and the subject's threat/behavioural level as represented in the RCMP's IM/IM. In fact, RCMP CEW training evaluates whether the weapon was properly used taking into account, among other things, the degree of communication between the officer and the subject before, during, and after the incident, and whether de-escalation tactics were considered prior to the deployment of the weapon. Reinforcing this practice, section 3.1.3 of the RCMP's *Operational Manual* on CEWs states that "[w]here tactically feasible, members will use de-escalation techniques and/or other crisis intervention techniques before using a CEW." Likewise, the Braidwood Commission on Conducted Energy Weapon Use (2009: 19) recommended that:

. . . an officer be prohibited from deploying a conducted energy weapon unless the officer is satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that:

no lesser force option has been, or will be, effective in eliminating the risk of bodily harm; and

de-escalation and/or crisis intervention techniques have not been or will not be effective in eliminating the risk of bodily harm.

7. SPECIAL POPULATIONS

There are two groups of subjects that require special consideration in the context of CEW usage and deployment by RCMP members. The first are youths, defined here as subjects under the age of 18, while the second are subjects identified in CEW reports as exhibiting mental health problems or suicidal behaviour. This section of the report uses descriptive statistics to better understand the nature of CEW cases involving these two groups. The various figures in this section (and the corresponding tables in Appendix 2) are comparable to the descriptive statistics found in Part Three of the present report.

A. YOUTH AGED 13–17

Figures 41 and 42, respectively, illustrate trends in the proportion of CEW reports involving youth and in the proportion of actual CEW deployments involving youth 13 to 17 years of age (see also tables 51 and 52 in Appendix 2). Figure 41 shows that the proportion of CEW reports involving youth increased in 2010. The rate of 7.37% is the highest recorded and is well above the historical average. In contrast, the figure related to CEW engagement in 2010 is essentially unchanged from 2009 (Figure 42). In other words, CEWs were either threatened or drawn against youth proportionately more often in 2010 than in previous years, but an increase in the level of actual deployment of the device against youth was not observed.





Figure 42 CEW Deployed by Year - Subjects Under 18



Due to the relatively small number of cases involving youth, considerable care must be taken in interpreting even the descriptive results. Still, there were several notable differences when "youth cases" were compared to the overall results.

For example, in contrast to the overall figures, Figure 43 (see also Table 53 in Appendix 2) suggests that CEW reports involving youth were proportionately much less likely in British Columbia – "E" Division (11.4% for youth vs. 26.8% overall) and Alberta – "K" Division (11.4% for youth vs. 20.6% overall) and much more prevalent in Saskatchewan – "F" Division (31.8% for youth vs. 20.6% overall), Nova Scotia – "H" Division (15.9% for youth vs. 5.9% overall) and the Yukon – "M" Division (6.8% for youth vs. 1.8% overall).



Figure 43 CEW Occurrence Characteristics: RCMP Division, 2010

According to Figure 44 (see also Table 54 in Appendix 2), in 2010, youth-related CEW incidents drew slightly fewer RCMP members relative to the overall average.

Figure 44 Number of RCMP Members Present, 2010



There are also a few clear differences with respect to *Incident Type*. Specifically, youth were less likely to be involved in cases of "assault" but more apt to be involved in "weapons offences" with respect to 2010 CEW-related incidents.



Figure 45 CEW Occurrence Characteristics: Incident Type, 2010

63

The prevalence of weapons is confirmed in Figure 46a (see also Table 56 in Appendix 2), showing that 73% of youth subjects were perceived to have a weapon, compared to the overall average of 61%. The following is indicative of the type of weapon-involved incidents involving youths.

SB/OR Example No. 31: Youth and weapon-involved incidents

The member received a request to assist other members with a subject who was seen walking down the road with a knife. The subject was non-responsive to verbal commands to drop the knife. The member attended and observed the subject walking slowly towards the other members with a knife, approximately six inches in length. The member heard the subject state several times: "shoot me," in response to the other members' orders to drop the knife. The member observed the subject display the ability to cause death or grievous bodily harm to the members at the scene, himself, or other members of the public. The member circled behind the subject, and, with lethal over-watch, drew the CEW, armed it, and pointed the device at the subject's back. The member verbally commanded the subject to "drop the knife or you will be tasered." The subject immediately dropped the knife and placed his hands up. The subject was taken to the ground in a controlled fashion and handcuffed without further incident or injury.

Figure 46a Event Characteristics: Perceived Possession of Weapon, 2010



Figure 46b Event Characteristics: Type of Weapon, 2010

*More than 1 answer per report was possible



It is somewhat surprising that the numbers pertaining to *perceived substance use* and *alcohol* were relatively low for youth compared to the total population (see Table 55 in Appendix 2).





Figure 47b Subject Characteristics: Type of Substance, 2010

* More than 1 answer per report was possible



Also noteworthy is the fact that in 42% of CEW events, subject behaviour was coded in the RCMP's SB/OR Reporting System as "grievous bodily harm or death" (Figure 48 and Table 56 in Appendix 2), which is in contrast to the overall average of 29%. In general, this finding appears to be related to the types of incidents that tend to generate youth reports. Weapons offences and mental health events (usually suicidal subjects with a weapon) were the two most common incident types for youths in 2010. Both of these occurrences tend to be associated with heightened evaluations of risk, corresponding to the aforementioned subject behaviour category.

Figure 48 Event Characteristics: Subject Behavior, 2010



The statistics for *Deployment Type* are consistent with the conclusions drawn from Table 52: i.e. the CEW is used much more as a deterrent against youth compared to the rest of the population. In particular, the figures for "Laser Sight Activated" and "Draw and Display" are both considerably higher when the subject is a youth.

Figure 49a CEW Threatened versus Deployed, 2010



Figure 49b CEW Usage Characteristics, 2010



With respect to tables 57 and 58 in Appendix 2, the very small number of cases renders any comparisons virtually meaningless.
B. MENTAL HEALTH

The situation with regard to CEW usage in *mental health* incidents declined in 2010 by about two-thirds the number reported in 2009. Figures 50a and 50b (see also Table 59 in Appendix 2) indicate that the proportion of both total CEW reports related to mental health incidents and total CEW deployment or engagement reports involving the mental health designation returned to 2008 levels after increases in 2009. As well, the percentage of mental health reports where the CEW was engaged continued to fall, showing a trend of declining deployment rates since 2005.

Figure 50a CEW Related Mental Health Incidents by Year



-----% of Total CEW Reports Related to Mental Health Incidents

Figure 50b

CEW Reports and Deployments by Year - Mental Health Incidents Compared to Total CEW Incidents



There were several areas in which CEW-related mental health incidents produced notable results. For example, British Columbia ("E" Division) had the highest incidence of these types of events, accounting for over 50% of mental health reports (Figure 51 and Table 60 in Appendix 2).





In line with the perception of mental health cases being particularly dangerous, given subject behaviour and the high likelihood of weapons involvement, it was not surprising that a large number of RCMP members routinely attended these events (Figure 52 and Table 61 in Appendix 2).

Figure 52 Number of RCMP Members Present, 2010



As demonstrated in Figure 53 (see Table 63 in Appendix 2), in almost two-thirds of CEW-related mental health incidents in 2010, subjects exhibited behaviours that RCMP members believed were intended to, or likely to, cause grievous bodily harm or death to any person.

Figure 53 Event Characteristics: Subject Behaviour, 2010



Moreover, as noted previously in Part Seven of the present report, mental health incidents in 2010 primarily involved subjects who were suicidal (67.4%), most of whom were in possession of a weapon such as a knife (figures 54a and 54b; see also Table 63 in Appendix 2).





Figure 54b Event Characteristics: Type of Weapon, 2010

*More than 1 answer per report was possible



Figure 55 Event Characteristics: Behaviour Directed At, 2010



The probability of deployment of the CEW for these types of events was also greater than the overall average, particularly when engaging the device in probe mode (Figure 56a and Table 63 in Appendix 2). In other words, the CEW is more likely to be deployed in CEW incidents when the subject is deemed to be suffering from a mental health issue (Figure 56b).

Figure 56a **CEW Usage Characteristics, 2010**



Draw And Display Spark Display

Figure 56b CEW Threatened versus Deployed, 2010



In non-suicidal cases, mental illness was generally inferred from the seemingly unusual behaviour of the subject. The following case encapsulates well some of the issues pertinent to mental health.

SB/OR Example No. 32: Mental Health

Several members were called to a mental health and drug addiction treatment centre. While en route, dispatch relayed that workers and the local fire department were indicating that a male was out of control and being extremely violent. The male subject was said to have HIV/ AIDS and hepatitis C. In addition, he was known to bite and spit at people. The subject was said to be running around unchecked within the facility. Lastly, the subject was said to be under the influence of methamphetamine and heroin. When police arrived, the subject had isolated himself in a shower room. He was ranting, screaming, swearing, grunting, and threatening to hurt anyone who came through the door. Given the members' extensive experience in matters such as these, the members felt that a confrontation with this individual was likely imminent. The subject was displaying "assaultive" behaviour before police even entered the room. A member feared for the safety of on scene officers and of the treatment centre staff. Members also feared that the subject may harm himself if left in this state for too long. Attempts to negotiate with this male by staff had failed and he was not responsive to verbal communication. No further negotiation with the subject was attempted, as it was felt that he may further barricade the door and prepare for any police entry into the room. An arrest team of five members was formed, and member no. 1 carried the CEW and would be the first to enter the room. Member no. 2 pushed open the door and member no. 1 made entry into the room. The member announced that he was a police officer and that the subject should get onto the ground. This demand was made twice. The suspect yelled back "F**k You" and began to rise to his feet. The member took this action as a threat cue, and feared that both he and the other members were about to be attacked by the subject. This caused the member to fear for the safety of all parties on-scene. To defend himself and fellow officers, the member deployed the CEW in probe mode. It was not practicable for the probes to strike anywhere else other than the subject's torso. The deployment was deemed successful and the subject tipped over sideways into the bathtub. He struck his head on the edge of the tub falling roughly 8–12 inches. He suffered a small cut to his ear. The member allowed the CEW to cycle until members were able to come and remove the subject from the tub. Once on the ground, the subject attempted to continue his assaultive behaviour during handcuffing, and a short two-second burst of the CEW was utilized to get the subject handcuffed. A spit hood was applied over his face to prevent him from spitting into members' faces, eyes or mouths. Obviously, the subject's medical condition was of grave concern to everyone involved. The subject continued to thrash once placed on a bed and, as such, member no. 1 used the cord-cuff restraining device to halt the suspect's aggressive actions. The subject was taken to hospital for further assessment with regard to his mental state, his state of intoxication, the small cut to his ear, and any medical issues which might arise from the drugs, the exertion and the CEW deployment.

8. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CEW usage by RCMP memberss continues to decline. Furthermore, as a proportion of all CEW incidents, actual CEW deployments have also become less common. This trend may suggest that the CEW is becoming a more effective deterrent and that RCMP members use it less often as a pain compliance tool or as an incapacitation device. Despite the decrease in use, the Commission will continue to closely monitor the RCMP's policies and practices with respect to CEWs.

As a final point, the Commission is making five recommendations based on some of the key findings of the present study:

Recommendation No. 1

The RCMP should further clarify its policy regarding the use (either threatened use or actual deployment) of the CEW on members of certain vulnerable populations.

Recommendation No. 2

The RCMP should continue to make refinements to its SB/OR Reporting System. For example, as was done in its previous CEW reporting system, the category of "drugs" should be further broken down into sub-categories, such as marijuana, cocaine, heroin. In cases where this information is known, it could prove valuable in terms of monitoring trends around CEW usage and deployment.

Recommendation No. 3

As per the RCMP's CEW policy, "Members must fully and accurately report and articulate their actions." In the present study, however, it was observed in numerous cases that the various narrative sections of the SB/OR Reporting System filled out by RCMP members were incoherent, inaccurate and/or incomplete. As a result, the RCMP should consider reviewing its policies and practices regarding quality assurance and the inputting of data and information about CEW use and deployment into the SB/OR Reporting System. Moreover, the RCMP should consider whether it is necessary to provide additional training or guidance to members and those in supervisory roles about this issue.

Recommendation No. 4

As per the RCMP's CEW policy, "Where tactically feasible, members will issue a verbal warning so the subject is aware that a CEW is about to be deployed." The RCMP should ensure that the data and information associated with the issuance of verbal warnings during CEW events are adequately captured as a mandatory field in the SB/OR Reporting System.

Recommendation No. 5

The RCMP should, by way of training and policy, reinforce to its members that the CEW should not be used in situations where the subject is displaying *Cooperative* or *Passive Resistant* behaviour. The CEW should be used only on subjects who are displaying active resistance, assaultive behaviour, or who are acting in a manner deemed harmful to themselves and/or others (grievous bodily harm).

9. APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: RCMP CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON POLICY

Operational Manual – Conducted Energy Weapon (Amended on April 29, 2010)

1. General

1.1. Only the Advanced Taser M26 (model 44000) and Taser X26E (Law Enforcement) (model 26012) conducted energy weapons (CEW) are approved for RCMP operational use as an intervention option to control a subject and avert injury to any person.

NOTE: As each Taser M26 reaches its life expectancy, it will be replaced by a Taser X26E. No new Taser M26 will be purchased.

1.2. The fluorescent yellow stickers on the CEW are intended to differentiate it from the pistol and must not be removed or altered under any circumstance.

1.3. Subject to sec. 1.6., only trained members and certified instructors who have successfully completed the CEW User Course (HRMIS Code 000028) or the CEW Instructor Course (HRMIS Code 000029) are permitted to use a CEW operationally.

NOTE: Candidates participating in the CEW User Course, CEW Instructors Course or the Cadet Training Program may handle/use the CEW under the supervision of an instructor as prescribed by course material.

1.4. Members certified to use the CEW must re-certify annually.

1.5. Members' CEW training and re-certification must be documented on HRMIS.

1.6. Members whose CEW certification has lapsed must not use the CEW operationally until the re-certification training has been completed.

2. Definitions

2.1. **Acutely agitated or delirious person** includes, but is not limited to, a person demonstrating one or more symptoms, such as substance abuse coupled with severe mental and physical exhaustion, or hyper-aggressiveness often characterized by extreme agitation, profuse sweating, hostility, exceptional strength and endurance without apparent fatigue.

2.2. **Data download** means the retrieval of information, recorded and stored in the CEW about its deployment, through the data port-function by connecting the data port to a computer. A data download provides information about CEW usage which can be valuable to an investigation.

2.3. Medically high risk situation includes, but is not limited to:

2.3.1. the deployment in probe mode for longer than 5 seconds, and

2.3.2. the deployment in either probe or push stun mode against:

2.3.2.1. an elderly person,

2.3.2.2. a child,

2.3.2.3. a person the member has reason to believe is pregnant,

2.3.2.4. an acutely agitated or delirious person, or

2.3.2.5. a person the member has reason to believe has a medical condition that may be worsened by use of a CEW.

2.4. **Operational cartridge** means an RCMP-approved cartridge for operational use and training, except scenario-based training.

2.5. **Probe mode** means the deployment of an activated CEW by discharging and propelling two electrical probes, equipped with small barbs that hook onto a subject's clothing or skin, allowing electrical energy to be transferred to that subject.

2.6. **Push stun mode** means pressing or pushing an activated CEW onto designated push/stun locations on a subject, allowing electrical energy to be transferred to that subject.

2.7. **Training cartridge** means the RCMP-approved blue simulation air cartridge for scenariobased training.

2.8. **Use of a CEW** means when:

2.8.1. a CEW is activated;

2.8.2. a CEW is drawn from its holster (activated or not); or

2.8.3. reference to the use of a CEW is made in gaining control of a situation.

3. Deployment

3.1. General

3.1.1. The CEW must only be used in accordance with CEW training, the principles of the <u>Incident</u> <u>Management/Intervention Model (IM/IM)</u> and when a subject is causing bodily harm, or the member believes on reasonable grounds, that the subject will imminently cause bodily harm as determined by the member's assessment of the totality of the circumstances. See also ch. 17.1.

NOTES:

In accordance with <u>sec. 2., CC</u>, bodily harm is defined as any hurt or injury to a person that interferes with the health or comfort of the person and that is more than merely transient or trifling in nature.

Members' actions must be reasonable and the force used must be necessary in the circumstances. Members must fully and accurately report and articulate their actions. Supervisors/managers will ensure all reporting requirements are complied with and appropriately evaluate all interventions to ensure compliance with RCMP directives.

3.1.2. All members must recognize that any use of force entails risk.

3.1.3. Where tactically feasible, members will use de-escalation techniques and/or other crisis intervention techniques before using a CEW.

3.1.4. Where tactically feasible, members will issue a verbal warning so the subject is aware that a CEW is about to be deployed.

3.1.5. Multiple deployment or continuous cycling of the CEW may be hazardous to a subject. Unless situational factors dictate otherwise, members must not cycle the CEW for more than 5 seconds on a subject and will avoid multiple deployments.

3.1.6. Members should make every effort to take control of the subject as soon as possible



following the deployment of a CEW, and if possible during the CEW deployment.

NOTE: The CEW is not intended as a restraint device.

3.1.7. Acutely agitated or delirious persons may be at a higher risk of death. Whenever possible, when responding to reports of an individual who is violent or in an acutely agitated or delirious state, request the assistance of emergency medical services. If possible, bring medical assistance to the scene.

3.1.8. For cold-weather limitations for model M26, see sec. 7.2.3.

4. Voluntary Exposure

4.1. Only candidates taking the CEW User Course or the CEW Instructor Course or the Cadet Training Program are permitted to participate in the CEW Voluntary Exposure Exercise. Any such exposure is to be done under the direct supervision of an RCMP CEW Instructor.

NOTE: Do not permit any member of the public to participate in a CEW voluntary exposure exercise.

5. Deployment Aftercare

5.1. After deploying a CEW, advise the subject that he/she has been subjected to a CEW deployment, and that the effects are expected to be short term.

5.2. Whenever possible, in medically high risk situations, request medical assistance before using the CEW. If medical assistance is not requested or a CEW deployment is necessary before the arrival of medical assistance, obtain medical assistance as soon as practicable.

5.3. Members must ensure that the subject receive medical assistance if the subject has any apparent medical or physical injury or affliction, the subject is in distress, or the subject requests medical assistance. See ch. 19.2. for policy related to assessing responsiveness/medical assistance.

5.4. A member with current first aid certification may remove the probes following the deployment of a CEW in probe mode, unless a probe is lodged in a sensitive part of the body, such as the eye or the groin, or the subject's condition warrants medical attention.

5.5. Members will remove the probes from a subject in a manner that least interferes with the privacy and dignity of that subject, while providing for the safety of the member and the subject.

5.6. If a medical or physical injury or affliction is claimed or observed, members will do the following:

5.6.1. Make note of any injury or affliction they observe, and any injury or affliction described by the subject.

5.6.2. Photograph the injury or afflicted area as observed, or the area of the injury or affliction as described by the subject and secure as evidence.

5.6.3. If feasible, request a statement relative to any injury or affliction from the subject.

5.6.4. Collect the expended cartridge and probes as taught in CEW training, and secure them as an exhibit for a minimum of 90 days. Cartridges that are not required for criminal, civil, or code of conduct investigations can be disposed of after 90 days.

5.6.5. Where possible, dispose the probes in a sharps container.

6. Reporting and Accountability

6.1. Member

6.1.1. Before signing out a CEW for operational duty:

6.1.1.1. Examine the CEW for any damages or obstructions to the electrical contacts and cartridges.

6.1.1.2. If there is no apparent damages or obstructions to the electrical contacts and cartridges, conduct a spark test.

6.1.2. Do not use or carry a CEW with any damage or obstruction to the electrical contacts.

6.1.3. Complete all information in the CEW sign out log form 6333.

6.1.4. Record the serial number of the CEW in your notebook.

6.1.5. As soon as practicable, each time the CEW is used, notify your supervisor.

6.1.6. Record on the investigative file any medical or physical injury or affliction.

6.1.7. As outlined in ch. 17.8., complete a Subject Behaviour/Officer Response (SB/OR) report every time a CEW is used, and attach the completed copy to the operational file. For the definition of 'use' of a CEW, see sec. 2.8.

6.1.8. If a CEW is unintentionally discharged, report the incident to your supervisor and record the details in your notebook.

6.1.9. Where applicable, follow division reporting directives.

6.2. Supervisor

6.2.1. Ensure members submit a SB/OR report. When a CEW was used, review reports for adherence to applicable policies as soon as practicable.

6.2.2. To make changes or additions after submission of an SB/OR report, unlock the SB/OR report and have the submitting member make the required changes or additions and resubmit. Attach a copy of the revised report to the operational file in addition to the original report to ensure changes are tracked.

6.2.3. If an injury to a member occurs as a result of the use of a CEW, complete form 3414. See OSM ch. 3.

6.3. Commander

6.3.1. Ensure that members under your command are aware of the directives in this chapter.

6.3.2. Ensure the original CEW package received contains one CEW, fully charged Digital Power Magazine (DPM), one instruction book, one DVD, and one holster (Blade Tech Tek-Lok - for plain clothes use only).

NOTE: Approved holsters for uniform and ERT must be ordered separately, see App. 17-7-1.

6.3.3. Maintain a sign out log form 6333 for each CEW assigned to the unit by recording the time, date and name of each member signing out a CEW.

6.3.4. Keep an adequate supply of CEWs, RCMP-approved holsters, CEW operational cartridges and replacement batteries/DPMs on hand.



6.4. Division

6.4.1. Ensure that supervisors as well as Divisional Use of Force Coordinators/delegate review all SB/OR reports when a CEW was used as soon as possible after they are completed for adherence to applicable directives.

6.4.2. Follow divisional internal processes and reporting requirements to ensure that any matter associated to CEW usage is resolved, including referral to division Professional Standards when appropriate, if an issue is identified during the review.

6.4.3. If required by provincial or territorial policy, forward quarterly and annual reports on CEW use to the appropriate provincial or territorial ministry.

6.4.4. Ensure that divisional Criminal Operations maintain a record of the following:

6.4.4.1. all the CEWs in the division and applicable serial numbers;

6.4.4.2. all CEW maintenance activities, findings or actions taken; and

6.4.4.3. the current location of each CEW and its operational status.

6.5. National Criminal Operations

6.5.1. Review all SB/OR reports as soon as practicable after they are completed to ensure consistency with national directives.

6.5.2. If an issue is identified during the review process, notify respective divisional Criminal Operations.

6.5.3. Complete an annual internal audit on the SB/OR database.

6.5.4. Complete quarterly and annual reports on CEW use, including statistical information for each division.

6.6. Chief Information Office (CIO)

6.6.1. Appropriately maintain and manage the SB/OR database for the National Criminal Operations (NCROPS).

6.6.2. Immediately report any issue associated with the SB/OR database to the NCROPS.

7. Maintenance and Control

7.1. General

7.1.1. The CEW is a prohibited firearm. The CEW and its cartridges must be secured in accordance with the *Public Agents Firearms Regulations*.

7.1.2. CEWs must be carried in an RCMP-approved holster (see App. 17-7-1) on the member's non-dominant side, e.g., opposite the sidearm.

7.2. Batteries

7.2.1. Model X26E

7.2.1.1. The X26E uses a model-specific, digital power magazine (XDPM).

7.2.1.2. Replace the XDPM when the percentage life reads below 20% on the digital display.

7.2.1.3. XDPMs below 20% may be used for training.

7.2.1.4. Dispose of the XDPM when it drops to 1%. CAUTION: Continued use at 0% may damage the CEW.

7.2.2. Model M26

7.2.2.1. Given the specialized and particular power supply requirements for the M26, only RCMPapproved batteries are to be used. See <u>App. 17-7-2</u> for battery-reconditioning method.

7.2.2.2. On the M26, the battery indicator light is a simple "power indicator" light when used with NiMH batteries. A spark test is the only approved and reliable method to assess the state of the NiMH batteries and the functionality of the CEW.

7.2.2.3. Use only the following authorized AA batteries listed in order of preference: Taser International (Rechargeable NiMH 44700); and Eveready Energizer ACCU (Rechargeable NiMH in 2100 mA or more).

7.2.3. Model M26 Precautions

7.2.3.1. Ensure batteries are properly charged at all times, particularly during severely cold temperatures.

7.2.3.2. Avoid exposing the M26 CEW to temperatures below -10°C for extended periods.

7.2.3.3. At -20°C or below, when practicable, carry the CEW and cartridges in a warm area.

7.3. Operational/Training Cartridges

7.3.1. Operational Cartridges permitted for operational use, with both the M26 and X26E are: TASER Standard Air Cartridge model 44200 with 21-foot filament.

NOTE: This is a newer version of the currently approved TASER Standard Air Cartridge model 34222 which is no longer available for purchase. Model 34222 is still approved and will be phased out through attrition.

7.3.2. Training Cartridges permitted for use in training are: blue TASER simulation Air Cartridge model 44205 with a 21-foot, non-conductive nylon wire for use in RCMP scenario-based training. This training cartridge will be purchased only by CEW instructors or Division Training Coordinators.

7.3.3. Monitor operational cartridges. They are marked with a five-year expiration date.

7.3.4. If the operational cartridge has not been deployed in five years or is damaged, immediately replace it with a new operational cartridge.

7.3.5. You may use expired operational cartridges for training purposes, except for scenariobased training.

7.3.6. Do not use or carry damaged CEW cartridges.

7.3.7. An operational cartridge should not be stored and carried in the extended DPM of the Taser Model X26E. Cartridges are to be stored in the cartridge carrier/holder provided on the holster.

7.4. Repair and Replacement

7.4.1. In compliance with the <u>Canada Labour Code</u>, faulty or malfunctioning CEWs must be marked or tagged accordingly and be removed from service.

7.4.2. The supervisor will:

7.4.2.1. ensure faulty or malfunctioning CEWs are removed from service, are properly tagged and immediately sent to a qualified person designated by the Cr. Ops. Officer to conduct CEW data



downloading. See shipping procedures in FM ch. 6.4.4.

7.4.2.2. after the download is complete, ensure the CEW is returned to the Senior Armourer, "Depot" Division for repair or replacement. See FM ch. 6.4.

7.4.3. If the CEW is being shipped for independent testing as part of an investigation, follow the shipping procedures outlined in FM ch. 6.4.4.

8. Data Downloads

8.1. General

8.1.1. The following individuals are qualified to conduct CEW data downloads: CEW Instructor Trainers, the RCMP Armourer, and any other qualified person designated by the Cr. Ops. Officer.

8.1.2. Follow the same shipping process (see FM ch. 6.4.4.) if the CEW is being shipped specifically for a data download for an investigation about CEW usage or yearly storage of data and resetting of the internal clock to Greenwich Mean Time.

8.2. Division

8.2.1. Download and store the data from all CEWs in your division at least once a year.

8.2.2. Ensure the CEW's internal clock is reset to the correct Greenwich Mean Time at least once a year.

8.2.3. Ensure a data download is conducted on all CEWs being sent for independent testing.

9. Independent CEW Testing

9.1. General

9.1.1. Independent testing of a CEW at a designated testing facility will be completed when:

9.1.1.1. an incident involves injury requiring medical treatment or death proximal to the use of a CEW;

9.1.1.2. a CEW malfunctioned;

9.1.1.3. a supervisor of an incident, a Divisional Use of Force Coordinator, a Criminal Operations Officer, or NCROPS determines that testing is warranted in the circumstances, including in order to address any concerns about the performance of a CEW or the circumstances or impacts of its use; or

9.1.1.4. before a new CEW is put into operational service.

9.1.2. Divisions will institute an independent testing regimen for all model M26 CEWs annually and at least 10% of the model X26s in the division's CEW inventory each year. Results will be reported to NCROPS. If specific provincial or territorial policy requires additional testing of CEWs, affected divisions will ensure compliance with those provincial/territorial requirements.

9.1.3. Testing of the CEW will determine the working state of the CEW and whether the weapon is functioning as per the manufacturer's specifications.

9.1.4. The CEW must be packaged and shipped in accordance with FM ch. 6.4.4. to the address provided by NCROPS.

9.1.5. A CEW that tests outside of the manufacturer's specifications will be removed from service by the Division and will be returned to the armourer for destruction.

9.2. Division

9.2.1. Testing will be conducted at division expense.

9.2.2. Divisional Criminal Operations are to contact the DG NCROPS for the designated testing facility.

9.2.3. Divisional Criminal Operations will ensure that a record of the output test results is maintained for each CEW by serial number.

APPENDIX 2: CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON DATA TABLES

Table 1 – CEW Occurence Characteristics, 2010						
	N (597)	%		N (597)	%	
Division			Incident Type			
Headquarters	0	0.0	Murder/Attempted Murder	4	0.7	
National Capital Region (A)	0	0.0	Assault	154	25.8	
Newfoundland and LB (B)	9	1.5	Sexual Assault	4	0.7	
Quebec (C)	0	0.0	Assault on Police Officer	76	12.7	
Manitoba (D)	54	9.0	Robbery	6	1.0	
British Columbia (E)	160	26.8	Kidnapping/Confinement	5	0.8	
Saskatchewan (F)	123	20.6	Weapons	41	6.9	
Northwest Territories (G)	6	1.0	Mental Health	92	15.4	
Nova Scotia (H)	35	5.9	Threats	27	4.5	
New Brunswick (J)	52	8.7	Drugs and Alcohol	13	2.2	
Alberta (K)	135	22.6	Break and Enter	18	3.0	
Prince Edward Island (L)	5	0.8	Mischief	25	4.2	
Yukon (M)	11	1.8	Disturbing the Peace	15	2.5	
Ontario (O)	0	0.0	Obstruction	41	6.9	
Nunavut (V)	7	1.2	Breach	20	3.4	
			Driving while Intoxicated	13	2.2	
Duty Type			Other Traffic Offences	16	2.7	
General Duty	576	96.5	Other	27	4.5	
Traffic Services	8	1.3	Rank			
Plain Clothes	5	0.8	Constable	544	91.1	
ERT	4	0.7	Corporal	46	7.7	
Public Order	1	0.2	Sergeant	5	0.8	
Support Services	3	0.5	Staff Sergeant	2	0.3	

Table 2 – CEW Situational and Environmental Characteristics, 2010						
	N (597)	%		N (485)	%	
Number of RCMP Members Present			Usage Reports Per RCMP Member			
1	72	12.1	1	393	81.7	
2	230	38.5	2	70	14.6	
3	116	19.4	3	12	2.5	
4	68	11.4	4	3	0.6	
5	51	8.5	5	2	0.4	
6+	60	10.1	6	1	0.2	
Mean	3.10	0	7	2	0.4	
			8	1	0.2	
Setting			9	1	0.2	
Indoor	251	42.0	10+	0	0.0	
Outdoor	276	46.2	Mean	1.2	4	
Indoor and Outdoor	70	11.7				

Table 3 – CEW Subject Characteristics, 2010						
	N (637)	%		N (637)	%	
Sex			Perceived Substance Use			
Female	55	8.6	No	153	24.0	
Male	582	91.4	Yes	484	76.0	
Age			Type of Substance*			
Under 20	98	15.4	Alcohol	424	66.6	
20–29	216	33.9	Drugs	183	28.7	
30–39	166	26.1	Inhalants	4	0.6	
40–49	114	17.9				
50+	43	6.8	Emotionally Disturbed			
Mean	31	.3	No	346	54.3	
			Yes	291	45.7	
*More than 1 answer	per report	was possib	le.			

Table 4 – CEW Event and Deployment Characteristics I, 2010						
	N (656)	%		N (656)	%	
Subject Behaviour			Deployment Type			
Cooperative	65	9.9	Laser Sight Activated	109	16.6	
Passive Resistant	36	5.5	Spark Display Activated	5	0.8	
Active Resistant	123	18.8	Draw and Display	102	15.5	
Assaultive	240	36.6	Pointed at Subject	227	34.6	
Grievous Harm or Death	192	29.3	Contact Stun Deployed	78	11.9	
			Probe Deployed	135	20.6	
Perceived Threat Greater						
No	149	22.7	Usage Effective			
Yes	315	48.0	No	95	14.5	
Not Applicable	192	29.3	Yes	561	85.5	
Behaviour Directed at*			Impediments			
Officer	494	75.3	Deflection (Foreign Object)	7	7.4	
Self	179	27.3	Insufficient Power	1	1.1	
Other	157	23.9	Malfunction	5	5.3	
			Moving Target	6	6.3	
Perceived Poss. of Weapon			Missed Subject	5	5.3	
No	254	38.7	Clothing	10	10.5	
Yes	402	61.3	Operator Error	1	1.1	
			Wind	1	1.1	
Type of Weapon*			No Effect on Subject	25	26.3	
Firearm	36	5.5	Other	34	35.8	
Edged	254	38.7				
Impact	72.	11.0	Weapon Model			
Pepper/Bear Spray	7	1.1	CEW M26	67	10.2	
Other	128	19.5	CEW X26	589	89.8	
* More than 1 answer per report	was possible	e.				

Table 5 – CEW event and Deployment Characteristics II, 2010						
Stun	N (78)	%	Probe	N (135)	%	
# of Times Stun Mode Used			# of Cartridges Fired			
1	49	62.8	1	127	94.1	
2	16	20.5	2	6	4.4	
3	10	12.8	3	2	1.5	
4	1	1.3	Mean	1.07	7	
5+	2	2.6				
Mean	1.6	0	Cycle Duration			
			Full	81	60.0	
Stun Duration			Partial	23	17.0	
Full	35	44.9	Did Not Cycle	31	23.0	
Partial	43	55.1				
			# of Cycles			
Stun Impact			0	31	23.0	
No Impact	0	0.0	1	92	68.1	
Chest/Abdomen	11	14.1	2	11	8.1	
Back	27	34.6	3+	1	0.7	
Shoulder/Arm	15	19.2	Mean	1.13	3	
Lower Body	25	32.1				
Head	0	0.0	Point of Impact – Upper			
			No Impact	13	9.6	
			Chest/Abdomen	41	30.4	
			Back	31	23.0	
			Shoulder/Arm	19	14.1	
			Lower Body	26	19.3	
			Head	5	3.7	
			Point of Impact – Lower			
			No Impact	29	21.5	
			Chest/Abdomen	36	26.7	
			Back	24	17.8	
			Shoulder/Arm	6	4.4	
			Lower Body	40	29.6	
			Head	0	0.0	
			Number of Probe Impacts			
			0 Probe Impact	11	8.1	
			1 Probe Impact	20	14.8	
			2 Probe Impacts	104	77.0	

Table 6 – CEW Injury Characteristics, 2010						
	N (656)	%		N (23)	%	
Usage Injured Subject			Subject Level of Treatment			
No	633	96.5	No Injury	0	0.0	
Yes	23	3.5	No Treatment Required	6	26.1	
Offered Medical Attention	N (23)	%	Treated and Released at	1	174	
No	2	8.7	Scene	4	17.4	
Yes	21	91.3				
Accepted Medical Attention	N (23)	%	Iransported to Hospital – Injury Related to Police Intervention	4	17.4	
No	4	17.4				
Yes	19	82.6	Transported to Hospital –			
			Condition & Injury Related to	6	26.1	
Probes Broke Skin	N (135)	%	Police Intervention			
No	43	31.9	Transported to Hospital –	3	13.0	
Yes	92	68.1	Condition Only		13.0	
			Officer Level of Treatment	N (656)	%	
			No Injury	614	93.6	
			None Apparent	2	0.3	
			Treated And Released	9	1.4	
			No Treatment Required	31	4.7	

Table 7 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Perceived Substance Use, 2010						
	CEW D	CEW Deployment				
Perceived Substance Use	No	Yes	Total			
No	118 77.1%	35 22.9%	153			
Yes	313 64.7%	171 35.3%	484			
431 206 637 67.7% 32.3% 100%						
$\chi^2 = 8.24, df = 1, p = .004$						

Table 8 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Perceived Weapons Involvement, 2010				
	CEW Dep			
Perceived Weapons Involvement	No	Yes	Total	
No	174 68.5%	80 31.5%	254	
Yes	269 66.9%	133 33.1%	402	
Total	443 67.5%	213 32.5%	656 100%	
χ ² = 0.18, df = 1, p = .732				

Table 9 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Number of RCMP Members Present, 2010						
	CEW Dep	CEW Deployment				
Number of RCMP Members Present	No	Yes	Total			
1	46 63.9	26 36.1	72			
2	160 69.6	70 30.4	230			
3	73 62.9	43 37.1	116			
4	46 67.6	22 32.4	68			
5	30 58.8	21 41.2	51			
6+	38 63.3	22 36.7	60			
Total	393 65.8%	204 34.2%	597 100%			
$\chi^2 = 3.36, df = 5, p = .645$						

Table 10 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Incident Type, 2010				
	CEW Dep	oloyment		
Incident Type*	No	Yes	Total	
Murder/Attempted Murder	0 0%	4 100.0%	4	
Assault on Police Officer	32 42.1%	44 57.9%	76	
Obstruction	19 46.3%	22 53.7%	41	
Other Traffic Offences	9 56.3%	7 43.8%	16	
Mental Health	52 56.5%	40 43.5%	92	
Weapons	28 68.3%	13 31.7%	41	
Drugs and Alcohol	9 69.2%	4 30.8%	13	
Mischief	18 72.0%	7 28.0%	25	
Assault	111 72.1%	43 27.9%	154	
Breach	16 80.0%	4 20.0%	20	
Break and Enter	15 83.3%	3 16.7%	18	
Robbery	5 83.3%	1 16.7%	6	
Threats	23 85.2%	4 14.8%	27	
Driving while Intoxicated	12 92.3%	1 7.7%	13	
Disturbing the Peace	14 93.3%	1 6.7%	15	
Kidnapping/Confinement	5 100.0%	0 0.0%	5	
Total	393 65.8%	204 34.2%	597 100%	
*Incident types "Sexual Assault" and "Ot	her" not shown.			
$\chi^2 = 66.15, df = 17, p < .001$				

Table 11 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Subject's Sex, 2010				
	CEW Dep			
Subject's Sex	No	Yes	Total	
Female	38 69.1%	17 30.9%	55	
Male	393 67.5%	189 32.5	582	
Total	431 67.7%	206 32.3%	637 100%	
$\chi^2 = 0.06, df = 1, p = .881$				

Table 12 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Subject's Age, 2010					
	CEW Deployment				
Subject's Age	No	Yes	Total		
Under 20	80 81.6%	18 18.4%	98		
20–29	140 64.8%	76 35.2%	216		
30–39	108 65.1%	58 34.9%	166		
40–49	80 70.2%	34 29.8%	114		
50+	23 53.5%	20 46.5%	43		
Total	431 67.7%	206 32.3%	637 100%		
$\chi^2 = 14.33, df = 4, p = .006$					

Table 13 – Whether CEW was Deployed by Subject Emotionally Disturbed, 2010				
	CEW Dep			
Subject Emotionally Disturbed	No	Yes	Total	
No	255 73.7%	91 26.3%	346	
Yes	176 60.5%	115 39.5%	291	
Total	431 67.7%	206 32.3%	637 100%	
$\chi^2 = 12.62, df = 1, p < .001$				

Table 14a – Whether CEW was Deployed by RCMP Division, 2010			
	CEW Dep		
RCMP Division	No	Yes	Total
Newfoundland and Labrador (B)	7 77.8%	2 22.2%	9
Manitoba (D)	43 76.8%	13 23.2%	56
British Columbia (E)	99 60.0%	66 40.0%	165
Saskatchewan (F)	116 77.9%	33 22.1%	149
Northwest Territories (G)	5 83.3%	1 16.7%	6
Nova Scotia (H)	26 74.3%	9 25.7%	35
New Brunswick (J)	30 57.7%	22 42.3%	52
Alberta (K)	91 64.1%	51 35.9%	142
Prince Edward Island (L)	3 60.0%	2 40.0%	5
Yukon (M)	9 81.8%	2 18.2%	11
Nunavut (V)	2 28.6%	5 71.4%	7
Total	431 67.7%	206 32.3%	637 100%
$\chi^2 = 24.65, df = 10, p = .006$			

Table 14b – Whether CEW was Deployed by Member's Years of Service, 2010			
	CEW Dep	oloyment	
Years of Service	No	Yes	Total
1 or Less	72 66.1	37 33.9	109
2 or 3	157 70.4	66 29.6	223
4 or 5	77 72.6	29 27.4	106
6 or 7	37 59.7	25 40.3	62
8+	53 54.6	44 45.4	97
Total	396 66.3%	201 33.7%	597 100%
$\chi^2 = 10.716, df = 4, p = .030$			

Table 15 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided by Mode of CEW Deployment, 2010				
	Medical	Attention		
Deployment Mode	No	Yes	Total	
Push-stun Mode Only	77 98.7%	1 1.3%	78	
Probes Only	122 90.4%	13 9.6%	129	
Total	199 93.4%	14 6.6%	213 100%	
$\chi^2 = 5.61, df = 1, p = .020$				

Table 16 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided by Number of CEW Cartridges Fired, 2010				
	Medical	Attention		
Number of Cartridges Fired	No	Yes	Total	
1	114 89.8%	13 10.2%	127	
2 or 3	8 100.0%	0 0.0%	8	
Total	122 90.4%	13 9.6%	135 100%	
$\chi^2 = 0.91, df = 1, p = 1.000$				

Table 17 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided by Number of Times CEW Stun Used, 2010			
	Medical A	Attention	
Number of Times Stun Mode Used	No	Yes	Total
1	48 98.0%	1 2.0%	49
2	16 100.0%	0 0.0%	16
3+	13 100.0%	0 0.0%	13
Total	77 98.7%	1 1.3%	78 100%
$\chi^2 = 0.60, df = 2, p = .741$			

Table 18 – Multiple Cycling of CEW vs. Medical Attention, 2010			
Cycles	No	Yes	Total
2	11 100.0%	0 0.0%	11
3	1 100.0%	0 0.0	1
Total	12 100.0%	0 0.0%	12 100%
χ^2 = cannot be calculated			

Table 19 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Substance Use, 2010				
	Medical Attention			
Was Substance Use Involved	No	Yes	Total	
No	31 88.6%	4 11.4%	35	
Yes	159 94.6%	9 5.4%	168	
Total	190 93.6%	13 6.4%	203 100%	
$\chi^2 = 1.78, df = 1, p = .245$				

Table 20 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Weapons Involvement, 2010				
	Medical A			
Were Weapons Involved	No	Yes	Total	
No	76 95.0%	4 5.0%	80	
Yes	123 92.5%	10 7.5%	133	
Total	199 93.4%	14 6.6%	213 100%	
$\chi^2 = 0.52, df = 1, p = .576$				

Table 21 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Number of RCMP Members Present, 2010			
	Medical A	Attention	
Number of RCMP Members Present	No	Yes	Total
1	23 88.5%	3 11.5%	26
2	64 94.1%	4 5.9%	68
3	39 90.7%	4 9.3%	43
4	22 100.0%	0 0.0%	22
5	19 95.0%	1 5.0%	20
6+	22 100.0%	0 0.0%	22
Total	189 94.0%	12 6.0%	201 100%
χ ² = 5.12, <i>df</i> = 5, <i>p</i> = .402			

Table 22 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Incident Type, 2010			
	Medical A	Attention	
Incident Type	No	Yes	Total
Mischief	7 100.0%	0 0.0%	7
Murder/Attempted Murder	3 75.0%	1 25.0%	4
Threats	3 100.0%	0 0.0%	3
Assault on Police Officer	40 93.0%	3 7.0%	43
Other	5 83.3%	1 16.7%	6
Weapons	11 84.6%	2 15.4%	13
Other Traffic Offences	6 85.7%	1 14.3%	7
Mental Health	38 95.0%	2 5.0%	40
Assault	41 95.3%	2 4.7%	43
Obstruction	21 100.0%	0 0.0%	21
Drugs and Alcohol	4 100.0%	0 0.0%	4
Break and Enter	3 100.0%	0 0.0%	3
Disturbing the Peace	1 100.0%	0 0.0%	1
Driving while Intoxicated	1 100.0%	0 0.0%	1
Robbery	1 100.0%	0 0.0%	1
Total	189 94.0%	12 6.0%	201 100%
$\chi^2 = 9.85, df = 15, p = .829$			

Table 23 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Subject's Sex, 2010			
	Medical A		
Subject's Sex	No	Yes	Total
Female	14 87.5%	2 12.5%	16
Male	176 94.1%	11 5.9%	187
Total	190 93.6%	13 6.4%	203 100%
$\chi^2 = 1.08, df = 1, p = .273$			

Table 24 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Subject's Age, 2010						
	Medical A	Medical Attention				
Subject's Age	No	Yes	Total			
Under 20	17 94.4%	1 5.6%	18			
20–29	71 93.4%	5 6.6%	76			
30–39	52 92.9%	4 7.1%	56			
40–49	31 93.9%	2 6.1%	33			
50+	19 95.0%	1 5.0%	20			
Total	190 93.6%	13 6.4%	203 100%			
$\chi^2 = 0.149, df = 4, p = .997$						

Table 25 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by RCMP Division, 2010							
	Medical A	Medical Attention					
RCMP Division	No	Yes	Total				
Newfoundland and Labrador (B)	2 100.0%	0 0.0%	2				
Manitoba (D)	11 84.6%	2 15.4%	13				
British Columbia (E)	62 93.9%	4 6.1%	66				
Saskatchewan (F)	28 93.3%	2 6.7%	30				
Northwest Territories (G)	1 100.0%	0 0.0	1				
Nova Scotia (H)	8 88.9%	1 11.1%	9				
New Brunswick (J)	21 95.5%	1 4.5%	22				
Alberta (K)	48 94.1%	3 5.9%	51				
Prince Edward Island (L)	2 100.0%	0 0.0%	2				
Yukon (M)	2 100.0%	0 0.0%	2				
Nunavut (V)	5 100.0%	0 0.0%	5				
Total	190 93.6%	13 6.4%	203 100%				
χ ² = 3.07, <i>df</i> = 10, <i>p</i> = .980							

Table 26 – Whether Medical Attention was Provided, by Taser® Model, 2010							
	Medical Attention						
Taser [®] Model	No	Yes	Total				
M26 Model	21 100.0%	0 0.0%	21				
X26 Model	178 92.7%	14 7.3%	192				
Total	199 93.4%	14 6.6%	213 100%				
$\chi^2 = 1.64, df = 1, p = .370$							

Table 27 – Summary of Significant Changes – 2010 vs. 2009						
	t-value	Prob.				
Occurence						
Division						
British Columbia	-3.60	.000				
Saskatchewan	2.08	.037				
Situational and Environmental						
Number of RCMP Members Present	2.98	.003				
Subject						
Type of Substance						
Alcohol	-2.66	.008				
Event and Deployment						
Perceived Possession of Weapon	4.76	.000				
Type of Weapon						
Firearm	2.40	.017				
Edged	4.42	.001				
Weapon Model	3.27	.001				
Impediments						
Clothing	5.99	.000				
Moving Target	5.98	.000				
Deployment Mode						
Not Deployed	2.84	.005				
Both Probe and Push-stun Modes	4.50	.000				
# of Times Push-stun Mode Used	3.86	000				
# of Cycles	-2.25	.025				

Table 28 – CEW Occurrence Characteristics – Report Comparisons						
	2009	2010		2009	2010	
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)	
Division			Duty Type			
Headquarters	0.3	0.0	General Duty	85.8	96.5	
National Capital Region (A)	0.0	0.0	Traffic Services	2.0	1.3	
Newfoundland and Lab. (B)	2.4	1.5	ERT	0.6	0.8	
Quebec (C)	0.0	0.0	Other	2.3	1.4	
Manitoba (D)	6.9	9.0	Missing	9.3	0.0	
British Columbia (E)	36.1	26.8	Rank			
Saskatchewan (F)	16.1	20.6	Constable	87.8	91.1	
Northwest Territories (G)	2.2	1.0	Corporal	6.6	7.7	
Nova Scotia (H)	2.3	5.9	Sergeant	1.6	0.8	
New Brunswick (J)	9.5	8.7	Staff Sergeant	0.4	0.3	
Alberta (K)	19.4	22.6	Inspector	0.0	0.0	
Prince Edward Island (L)	1.0	0.8	Missing	3.6	0.0	
Yukon (M)	1.9	1.8				
Ontario (O)	0.0	0.0				
Nunavut (V)	2.0	1.2				

Table 29 – CEW Situational and Environmental Characteristics – Report Comparisons							
	2009	2010		2009	2010		
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)		
Number of RCMP Members			Usage Reports Per RCMP				
Present			Member				
1	15.8	12.1	1	81.9	81.7		
2	40.1	38.5	2	13.0	14.6		
3	22.7	19.4	3	3.6	2.5		
4	9.8	11.4	4	0.7	0.6		
5	5.3	8.5	5	0.2	0.4		
6+	6.3	10.1	6	0.5	0.2		
Mean	2.79	3.10	7	0.0	0.0		
			8	0.0	0.0		
Setting			9	0.0	0.0		
Indoor	49.4	42.0	10+	0.0	0.0		
Outdoor	50.2	46.2	Mean	1.26	1.24		
Indoor and Outdoor	N/A	11.7					
Missing	0.3	0.0					

Table 30 – CEW Subject Characteristics – Report Comparisons							
	2009	2010		2009	2010		
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)		
Sex			Perceived Substance Use				
Female	6.0	8.6	No	19.8	24.0		
Male	92.5	91.4	Yes	80.2	76.0		
Missing	1.4	0.0					
Age			Type of Substance				
Under 20	11.2	15.4	Alcohol	73.4	66.6		
20–29	34.6	33.9	Drugs	27.2	28.7		
30–39	24.0	26.1	Inhalants	0.0	0.6		
40–49	19.7	17.9					
50+	6.8	6.8					
Missing	3.7	0.0					
Mean	32.2	31.3					

Table 31 – CEW Event and Deployment Characteristics I – Report Comparisons							
	2009	2010		2009	2010		
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)		
Perceived Poss. of Weapon			Weapon Model				
No	51.8	38.7	CEW M26	16.4	10.2		
Yes	48.2	61.3	CEW X26	83.6	89.8		
Type of Weapon			Impediments				
Firearm	2.8	5.5	No Impediment	82.9	85.5		
Edged	27.2	38.7	Deflection (Foreign Object)	0.6	1.1		
Impact	9.8	11.0	Insufficient Power	0.0	0.2		
Pepper/Bear Spray	N/A	1.1	Malfunction	0.3	0.8		
Other	19.7	19.5	Moving Target	7.2	0.9		
			Missed Subject	0.0	0.8		
Deployment Type			Clothing	8.5	1.5		
Not Deployed	60.2	67.6	Operator Error	0.3	0.2		
Probes Only	21.0	20.3	Wind	0.3	0.2		
Push-Stun Mode Only	14.1	11.3	No Effect on Subject	0.0	3.8		
Both Probe and Push-Stun Modes	4.7	0.8	Other	0.0	5.2		

Table 32 – CEW Event and Deployment Characteristics II – Report Comparisons						
	2009	2010		2009	2010	
	(%)	(%)		(%)	(%)	
# of Times Stun Mode Used			Point of Impact – Upper			
1	61.1	62.8	No Impact	11.7	9.6	
2	22.1	20.5	Chest/Abdomen	38.7	30.4	
3	11.5	12.8	Back	25.2	23.0	
4	4.6	1.3	Shoulder/Arm	19.6	14.1	
5+	0.8	2.6	Lower Body	2.5	19.3	
Mean	1.63	1.60	Head	2.5	3.7	
# of Cartridges Fired			Point of Impact – Lower			
1	91.6	94.1	No Impact	20.9	21.5	
2	7.8	4.4	Chest/Abdomen	32.5	26.7	
3	0.6	1.5	Back	28.2	17.8	
Mean	1.09	1.07	Shoulder/Arm	6.7	4.4	
			Lower Body	11.7	29.6	
Cycle Duration			Head	0.0	0.0	
Full	82.8	60.0				
Partial	13.5	17.0	Number of Probe Impacts			
Did Not Cycle	3.7	23.0	0 Probe Impact	9.8	8.1	
			1 Probe Impact	12.9	14.8	
# of Cycles			2 Probe Impact	77.3	77.0	
0	2.4	23.0				
1	68.7	68.1				
2	20.2	8.1				
3+	8.6	0.7				
Mean	1.41	1.13				
Table 33 – Three of More RCMP M	embers Present at	CEW Event, by Ir	ncident Year			
------------------------------------	-------------------	------------------	---------------			
	3 or More Mem	bers Present				
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total			
2002	42 48.8%	44 51.2%	86			
2003	285 50.0%	285 50.0%	570			
2004	162 60.9%	104 39.1%	266			
2005	353 57.5%	261 42.5%	614			
2006	664 58.6%	469 41.4%	1133			
2007	978 61.4%	615 38.6%	1593			
2008	663 59.0%	460 41.0%	1123			
2009	389 55.9%	307 44.1%	696			
2010	302 50.6%	295 49.4%	597			
Total	3,838 57.5%	2,840 42.5%	6,678 100%			
$\chi^2 = 40.96, df = 8, p < .001$						

Table 34 – RCMP Members with M	ultiple CEW Repor	ts, by Incident Ye	ar
	Members with M	lultiple Reports	
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total
2002	50 82.0%	11 18.0%	61
2003	308 76.0%	97 24.0%	405
2004	179 83.3%	36 16.7%	215
2005	402 82.7%	84 17.3%	486
2006	585 73.6%	210 26.4%	795
2007	781 71.5%	312 28.5%	1093
2008	615 74.6%	209 25.4%	824
2009	453 81.9%	100 18.1%	553
2010	339 70.3%	143 29.7%	482
Total	3,712 75.5%	1,202 24.5%	4,914 100%
$\chi^2 = 53.02, df = 8, p < .001$			

Table 35 – Whether Weapons wer	e Involved in CEW	Event, by Inciden	t Year
	Weapons	Involved	
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total
2002	68 79.1%	18 20.9%	86
2003	438 76.8%	132 23.2%	570
2004	205 77.1%	61 22.9%	266
2005	391 63.7%	223 36.3%	614
2006	738 65.1%	395 34.9%	1,133
2007	1073 67.4%	520 32.6%	1,593
2008	714 63.6%	409 36.4%	1,123
2009	329 51.8%	306 48.2%	635
2010	254 38.7%	402 61.3%	656
Total	4,210 63.1%	2,466 36.9%	6,676 100%
$\chi^2 = 294.65, df = 8, p < .001$			

Table 36 – Whether CEW was Dep	loyed, by Incident	Year	
	CEW Dep	oloyment	
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total
2002	24 27.9%	62 72.1%	86
2003	68 11.9%	502 88.1%	570
2004	24 9.0%	242 91.0%	266
2005	97 15.8%	517 84.2%	614
2006	232 20.5%	901 79.5%	1,133
2007	454 28.5%	1139 71.5%	1,593
2008	554 49.3%	569 50.7%	1,123
2009	419 60.2%	277 39.8%	696
2010	431 67.7%	206 32.3%	637
Total	2,303 34.3%	4,415 65.7%	6,081 100%
χ ² = 1051.36, <i>df</i> = 8, <i>p</i> < .001			



Table 37 – Whether CEW Push-S	tun Mode Used Mor	e Than Once, by I	ncident Year
	Push-stun I More Tha	Mode Used an Once	
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total
2002	33 71.7%	13 28.3%	46
2003	212 62.7%	126 37.3%	338
2004	107 62.9%	63 37.1%	170
2005	198 62.1%	121 37.9%	319
2006	333 57.8%	243 42.2%	576
2007	397 56.9%	301 43.1%	698
2008	221 68.2%	103 31.8%	324
2009	80 61.1%	51 38.9%	131
2010	49 62.8%	29 37.2%	78
Total	1,630 60.8%	1,050 39.2%	2,680 100%
$\chi^2 = 17.65, df = 8, p < .024$			

Table 38 – Whether CEW Cycled N	lore Than Once, by	y Incident Year	
	Weapon More Tha	Cycled an Once	
Incident Year	No	Yes	Total
2002	15 62.6	9 37.5	24
2003	138 67.3	67 32.7	205
2004	70 70.0	30 30.0	100
2005	190 70.1	81 29.9	271
2006	292 66.1	150 33.9	442
2007	437 70.4	184 29.6	621
2008	223 70.8	92 29.2	315
2009	120 71.0	49 29.0	169
2010	127 91.4%	12 8.6%	139
Total	1,612 70.5%	674 29.5%	2,286 100%
$\chi^2 = 35.10, df = 8, p = .000$			

Table 39 -	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t, 2002–21	010						
		- F							Cycli	ng*		
	Keports	Inrea	renea	nebic	oyea	carriages	Ō	Je	Τw	Q	Three o	r More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	z	z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	86	24	27.9	62	72.1	24	15	62.5	8	33.3	-	4.2
2003	570	68	11.9	502	88.1	211	138	65.4	45	21.3	22	10.4
2004	266	24	9.0	242	91.0	102	70	68.6	12	11.8	18	17.6
2005	614	97	15.8	517	84.2	283	190	67.1	59	20.8	22	7.8
2006	1,133	232	20.5	901	79.5	460	292	63.5	88	19.1	62	13.5
2007	1,593	454	28.5	1139	71.5	644	437	67.9	128	19.9	56	8.7
2008	1,123	554	49.3	569	50.7	334	223	66.8	68	20.4	24	7.2
2009	969	419	60.2	277	39.8	163	112	68.7	33	20.2	14	8.6
2010	262	393	65.8	204	34.2	135	92	70.4	5	3.7	3	2.2
Total	6,678	2,265	33.9	4413	66.1	2,356	1,572	66.7	446	18.9	222	9.4
*There were a	small number (of cases where	the number of	cycling was rec	orded as 0 (67	, 3.0% of total)	or missing (17,	0.8%). As a res	ult, "Cycling" c	olumns may no	ot add up to 100	%.

Table 40	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Newfo	undland a	Ind Labra	dor, 2002–;	2010			
		F							Cyclir	ng*		
	керопз	ппеа	renea	nebic	oyea	cartriages	0	ne	Τw	Q	Three o	r More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	z	z	%	z	%	N	%
2002	0											
2003	7	3	42.9	4	57.1	2	2	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2004	15	3	20.0	12	80.0	6	9	66.7	2	22.2	1	11.1
2005	14	2	14.3	12	85.7	9	4	66.7	2	33.3	4	66.7
2006	21	3	14.3	18	85.7	12	3	25.0	5	41.7	0	0.0
2007	31	18	58.1	13	41.9	8	5	62.5	2	25.0	1	12.5
2008	43	23	53.5	20	46.5	16	12	75.0	4	25.0	0	0.0
2009	17	10	58.8	7	41.2	4	4	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2010	6	2	77.8	2	22.2	1	1	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	157	69	43.9	88	56.1	58	37	63.8	15	25.9	6	10.3
*"Cycling" colt	umns may not e	add up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

111 RCMP USE OF THE CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON , 2010

Table 41	- Trends i	n CEW Usaç	ge and D	eploymen	t – Manito	ba, 2002-	2010					
		There							Cycli	ng*		
	керопз	Inreate	nea	nebi	oyea	carridges	Ō	ne	Τw	0	Three o	r More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	Z	z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	2	0	0.0	2	100.0	0						
2003	41	°	7.3	38	92.7	9	4	66.7	~	16.7	0	0.0
2004	5	0	0.0	5	100.0	~	1	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2005	73	12	0.0	61	83.6	19	11	57.9	9	31.6	2	10.5
2006	133	18	0.0	115	86.5	39	23	59.0	6	23.1	5	12.8
2007	138	23	0.0	115	83.3	44	30	68.2	8	18.2	-	2.3
2008	96	42	0.0	54	56.3	25	19	76.0	3	12.0	-	4.0
2009	48	33	68.8	15	31.3	7	4	57.1	S	42.9	0	0.0
2010	54	42	77.8	12	22.2	10	7	70.0	0	0	0	0.0
Total	590	173	29.3	417	70.7	151	66	65.6	30	19.9	6	6.0
*"Cycling" coli	umns may not a	add up to 100%. St	ee Table 39 fc	ootnote.								

Table 42	- Trends i	n CEW Us;	age and D	eploymen	t – British	n Columbi	a, 2002–2(010				
		F							Cycli	ng*		
	керопз	Inrea	renea	nebic	oyea	carridges	Õ	ne	Tμ	0	Three o	- More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	Z	Z	%	Z	%	z	%
2002	17	3	17.6	14	82.4	6	9	66.7	3	33.3	0	0.0
2003	209	27	12.9	182	87.1	86	58	67.4	16	18.6	6	10.5
2004	71	13	18.3	58	81.7	22	21	95.5	0	0.0	-	4.5
2005	224	44	19.6	180	80.4	109	78	71.6	18	16.5	8	7.3
2006	411	112	27.3	299	72.7	172	105	61.0	34	19.8	22	12.8
2007	559	165	29.5	394	70.5	235	155	66.0	54	23.0	19	8.1
2008	390	181	46.4	209	53.6	108	71	65.7	22	20.4	7	6.5
2009	251	142	56.6	109	43.4	58	35	60.3	15	25.9	7	12.1
2010	160	94	58.8	66	41.3	40	29	72.5	1	2.5	0	0.0
Total	2,292	781	34.1	1,511	62.9	839	558	66.5	163	19.4	73	8.7
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not a	add up to 100%.	See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

Table 43	– Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Saska	tchewan,	2002-2010					
		- Cond							Cycli	ng*		
	керопз	пгеа	renea	nebic	oyea	carriages	Ō	ле	Τw	0	Three o	- More
Year	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	%
2002	0											
2003	23	0	0.0	23	100.0	5	4	80.0	1	20.0	0	0.0
2004	94	1	1.1	93	98.9	33	20	60.6	5	15.2	7	21.2
2005	119	14	11.8	105	88.2	63	42	66.7	14	22.2	9	9.5
2006	128	19	14.8	109	85.2	51	35	68.6	6	17.6	9	11.8
2007	132	28	21.2	104	78.8	60	41	68.3	11	18.3	7	11.7
2008	178	111	62.4	67	37.6	36	24	66.7	5	13.9	5	13.9
2009	112	86	76.8	26	23.2	16	7	43.8	5	31.3	2	12.5
2010	123	91	74.0	32	26.0	20	10	50.0	0	0.0	2	10.0
Total	606	350	38.5	559	61.5	284	183	64.4	50	17.6	35	12.3
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not a	idd up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

Table 44	– Trends i	n CEW Us;	age and D	eploymen	t - North	west Territ	tories, 200	12-2010				
		F							Cycli	ng*		
	керопз	IIIrea	nelleu	nebu	nyeu	carriages	Õ	ne	Τw	0	Three o	r More
Year	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	%
2002	23	14	60.9	6	39.1	1	0	0.0	-	100.0	0	0.0
2003	51	2	13.7	44	86.3	19	16	84.2	2	10.5	0	0.0
2004	4	0	0.0	4	100.0	2	1	50.0	-	50.0	0	0.0
2005	28	5	17.9	23	82.1	14	6	64.3	2	14.3	2	14.3
2006	27	2	25.9	20	74.1	2	3	42.9	1	14.3	3	42.9
2007	62	24	38.7	38	61.3	19	12	63.2	5	26.3	2	10.5
2008	39	24	61.5	15	38.5	9	5	83.3	1	16.7	0	0.0
2009	15	12	80.0	3	20.0	2	2	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2010	9	2	83.3	1	16.7	1	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	255	98	38.4	157	61.6	71	48	67.6	13	18.3	7	9.9
*"Cycling" coli	umns may not a	idd up to 100%.	See Table 39 f	footnote.								

Table 45	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Nova (Scotia, 20	02-2010					
			1						Cycli	ng*		
	керопз		neuen	nepic	nyeu	cartriages	Õ	ne	Tμ	0	Three o	^ More
Year	z	Z	%	z	%	z	z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	0											
2003	-	-	100.0	0	0.0	0						
2004	2	-	50.0	~	50.0	1	~	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2005	17	5	29.4	12	70.6	10	4	40.0	4	40.0	0	0.0
2006	50	16	32.0	34	68.0	20	16	80.0	3	15.0	0	0.0
2007	57	25	43.9	32	56.1	17	13	76.5	c	17.6	-	5.9
2008	49	25	51.0	24	49.0	11	7	63.6	4	36.4	0	0.0
2009	16	12	75.0	4	25.0	3	3	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2010	35	26	74.3	6	25.7	7	9	85.7	1	14.3	0	0.0
Total	227	111	48.9	116	51.1	69	50	72.5	15	21.7	1	1.4
*"Cycling" colt	umns may not a	add up to 100%	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

Table 46	– Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – New B	trunswick,	2002-20	10				
		Thursd							Cycli	ng*		
	керопт		nened	nepic	oyea	Cartriages	0	ne	Ти	0/	Three o	' More
Year	z	z	%	z	%	z	z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	0											
2003	21	4	19.0	17	81.0	7	4	57.1	3	42.9	0	0.0
2004	3	0	0.0	3	100.0	1	1	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2005	13	1	7.7	12	92.3	4	3	75.0	1	25.0	0	0.0
2006	69	2	7.2	64	92.8	35	26	74.3	5	14.3	4	11.4
2007	88	31	35.2	57	64.8	41	33	80.5	5	12.2	3	7.3
2008	56	26	46.4	30	53.6	19	12	63.2	9	31.6	0	0.0
2009	66	38	57.6	28	42.4	20	16	80.0	3	15.0	1	5.0
2010	52	30	57.7	22	42.3	15	10	66.7	0	0	0	0.0
Total	368	135	36.7	233	63.3	142	105	73.9	23	16.2	8	5.6
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not <i>e</i>	idd up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

117 RCMP USE OF THE CONDUCTED ENERGY WEAPON , 2010

Table 47	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Albert	a, 2002–20	10					
		F							Cycli	ng*		
	Keports	Inrea	renea	nepic	yea	carriages	Õ	ne	Τw	Q	Three o	' More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	z	Z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	21	S	14.3	18	85.7	8	9	75.0	-	12.5	-	12.5
2003	150	15	10.0	135	90.06	57	33	57.9	15	26.3	8	14.0
2004	46	4	8.7	42	91.3	19	11	57.9	1	5.3	9	31.6
2005	06	7	7.8	83	92.2	44	27	61.4	10	22.7	4	9.1
2006	234	44	18.8	190	81.2	88	62	70.5	6	10.2	14	15.9
2007	417	117	28.1	300	71.9	175	115	65.7	36	20.6	16	9.1
2008	227	103	45.4	124	54.6	95	62	65.3	19	20.0	10	10.5
2009	135	69	51.1	66	48.9	40	32	80.0	4	10.0	4	10.0
2010	135	84	62.2	51	37.8	34	26	76.5	3	8.8	1	2.9
Total	1,455	446	30.7	1,009	69.3	560	374	66.8	98	17.5	64	11.4
*"Cycling" colt	umns may not a	idd up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

Table 48	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Prince	Edward I	sland, 20()2–2010				
									Cycli	ng*		
	керопз	Inrea	renea	nebic	oyea	Cartridges	0	ne	ΤM	0	Three o	r More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	z	Z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	0											
2003	15	2	13.3	13	86.7	6	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0.0
2004	7	~	14.3	9	85.7	4	~	25.0	-	25.0	2	50.0
2005	2	0	0.0	2	100.0	-	~	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2006	6	£	11.1	8	88.9	7	4	57.1	S	42.9	0	0.0
2007	16	4	25.0	12	75.0	9	5	83.3	0	0.0	-	16.7
2008	8	9	75.0	2	25.0	3	2	66.7	0	0.0	-	33.3
2009	7	4	57.1	c	42.9	2	2	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2010	5	3	60.6	2	40.0	2	2	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	69	21	30.4	48	69.6	34	24	70.6	9	17.6	4	11.8
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not é	add up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	ootnote.								

Table 49	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Yukon	, 2002–20	10					
			7		7				Cycli	ng*		
	Keports	IIIrear	naua	nepic	jyeu	carriages	Õ	ne	Τw	0/	Three o	- More
Year	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	Z	%	Z	%	Z	%
2002	20	4	20.0	16	80.0	5	3	60.0	2	40.0	0	0.0
2003	36	3	8.3	33	91.7	14	7	50.0	3	21.4	4	28.6
2004	11	0	0.0	11	100.0	2	2	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2005	11	e	27.3	Ø	72.7	4	2	50.0	2	50.0	0	0.0
2006	17	0	0.0	17	100.0	11	7	63.6	3	27.3	1	9.1
2007	40	10	25.0	30	75.0	17	12	70.6	~	5.9	e	17.6
2008	11	5	45.5	9	54.5	5	3	60.0	~	20.0	0	0.0
2009	13	7	53.8	9	46.2	5	4	80.0	~	20.0	0	0.0
2010	11	6	81.8	2	18.2	0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	170	41	24.1	129	75.9	66	43	65.2	13	19.7	8	12.1
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not a	idd up to 100%.	See Table 39 fo	ootnote.								

Table 50	- Trends i	n CEW Us	age and D	eploymen	t – Nunav	ut, 2002–;	2010					
		Theory							Cycli	ng*		
	керопз		naliai	nebic	nyeu	carriages	Õ	ne	ΤM	0/	Three o	r More
Year	Z	z	%	z	%	z	z	%	z	%	z	%
2002	2	0	0.0	2	100.0	0						
2003	16	3	18.8	13	81.3	9	3	50.0	2	33.3	-	16.7
2004	8	1	12.5	7	87.5	5	2	40.0	2	40.0	1	20.0
2005	20	2	10.0	18	0.06	6	6	100.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
2006	27	3	11.1	24	88.9	15	7	46.7	5	33.3	3	20.0
2007	47	9	12.8	41	87.2	20	15	75.0	2	10.0	2	10.0
2008	25	7	28.0	18	72.0	10	9	60.0	3	30.0	0	0.0
2009	14	5	35.7	6	64.3	9	3	50.0	2	33.3	0	0.0
2010	7	2	28.6	5	71.4	5	4	80.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Total	166	29	17.5	137	82.5	76	49	64.5	16	21.1	7	9.2
*"Cycling" colu	umns may not a	add up to 100%.	. See Table 39 f	footnote.								

Table 51 – CEW Reports – Si	ubjects Un	ider 18 Ye	ars of Age	, 2002–20	10					
Age	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	Total
13	0	0	0	0	0	4	c	-	~	0
14	0	0	0	0	5	5	4	2	7	23
15	0	~	4	5	11	8	11	4	10	54
16	-	5	5	17	19	25	20	13	9	111
17	0	4	9	18	36	34	25	16	20	159
Total 13–17	1	10	15	40	71	76	63	36	44	356
% of Total	1.19	1.78	5.70	6.60	6.36	4.82	5.64	5.17	7.37	5.95
Table 52 – CEW Deployed –	Subjects L	Jnder 18 Y	ears of Ag	le, 2002–2	010					
Age	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	Total
13	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	2
14	0	0	0	0	4	3	0	0	1	8
15	0	1	4	4	8	5	5	2	2	31
16	0	с	5	15	15	19	7	S	0	67
17	0	2	9	15	29	23	6	5	5	94
Total 13–17	0	9	15	34	56	51	21	11	8	202
% of Total	00.00	1.21	6.28	6.67	6.31	4.51	3.71	3.97	3.92	5.05

Table 53 – CEW Occurrence	e Chara	cteristic	cs – Subjects Under 18 Year	s of Age	e, 2010
	N (44)	%		N (44)	%
Division			Incident Type		
Headquarters	0	0.0	Murder/Attempted Murder	0	0.0
National Capital Region (A)	0	0.0	Assault	7	15.9
Newfoundland and Lab. (B)	1	2.3	Sexual Assault	0	0.0
Quebec (C)	0	0.0	Assault on Police Officer	4	9.1
Manitoba (D)	4	9.1	Robbery	2	4.5
British Columbia (E)	5	11.4	Kidnapping/Confinement	0	0.0
Saskatchewan (F)	14	31.8	Weapons	9	20.5
Northwest Territories (G)	0	0.0	Mental Health	8	18.2
Nova Scotia (H)	7	15.9	Threats	2	4.5
New Brunswick (J)	4	9.1	Drugs and Alcohol	0	0.0
Alberta (K)	5	11.4	Break and Enter	0	0.0
Prince Edward Island (L)	1	2.3	Mischief	4	9.1
Yukon (M)	3	6.8	Disturbing the Peace	0	0.0
Ontario (O)	0	0.0	Obstruction	4	9.1
Nunavut (V)	0	0.0	Breach	3	6.8
			Driving while Intoxicated	0	0.0
Duty Type			Other Traffic Offences	0	0.0
General Duty	42	95.5	Other	1	2.3
Traffic Services	1	2.3			
Plain Clothes	0	0.0	Rank		
ERT	1	2.3	Constable	40	90.9
Public Order	0	0.0	Corporal	3	6.8
Support Services	0	0.0	Sergeant	0	0.0
			Staff Sergeant	1	2.3

Table 54 – CEW Situational Subjects Under 18 Years, 2	and En 010	vironm	ental Characteristics –		
	N (44)	%		N (43)	%
Number of RCMP Members Present			Usage Reports Per RCMP Member		
1	4	9.1	1	35	81.4
2	26	59.1	2	6	14.0
3	5	11.4	3	1	2.3
4	3	6.8	4	1	2.3
5	2	4.5	5	0	0.0
6+	4	9.1	6	0	0.0
Mean	2.	77	7	0	0.0
			8	0	0.0
Setting			9	0	0.0
Indoor	23	52.3	10+	0	0.0
Outdoor	18	40.9	Mean	1.	26
Indoor and Outdoor	3	6.8			

Table 55 – CEW Subject Ch	aracter	istics –	Subjects Under 18 Years of	Age, 20	10
	N (52)	%		N (52)	%
Sex			Perceived Substance Use		
Female	5	9.6	No	21	40.4
Male	47	90.4	Yes	31	59.6
Age			Type of Substance*		
13 or Under	1	1.9	Alcohol	26	50.0
14	8	15.4	Drugs	16	30.8
15	11	21.2	Inhalants	0	0.0
16	8	15.4			
17	24	46.2	Emotionally Disturbed		
Mean	1.	59	No	30	57.7
			Yes	22	42.3
* More than 1 answer per report v	vas poss	ible.			

Table 56 – CEW Event and Deployment Characteristics I –Subjects Under 18 Years of Age, 2010

	N (52)	%		N (52)	%
Subject Behaviour			Deployment Type		
Cooperative	8	15.4	Laser Sight Activated	14	26.9
Passive Resistant	1	1.9	Spark Display Activated	0	0.0
Active Resistant	8	15.4	Draw and Display	14	26.9
Assaultive	13	25.0	Pointed at Subject	16	30.8
Grievous Harm or Death	22	42.3	Contact Stun Deployed	3	5.8
			Probe Deployed	5	9.6
Perceived Threat Greater					
No	7	13.5	Usage Effective		
Yes	23	44.2	No	4	7.7
Not Applicable	22	42.3	Yes	48	92.3
Behaviour Directed at*			Impediments		
Officer	33	63.5	Deflection (Foreign Object)	0	0.0
Self	13	25.0	Insufficient Power	0	0.0
Other	12	23.1	Malfunction	0	0.0
			Moving Target	1	1.9
Perceived Poss. of Weapon			Missed Subject	0	0.0
No	14	26.9	Clothing	0	0.0
Yes	38	73.1	Operator Error	0	0.0
			Wind	0	0.0
Type of Weapon*			No Effect on Subject	1	1.9
Firearm	0	0.0	Other	2	3.8
Edged	23	44.2			
Impact	9	17.3	Weapon Model		
Pepper/Bear Spray	1	1.9	CEW M26	10	19.2
Other	6	11.5	CEW X26	42	80.8
* More than 1 answer per report w	as possil	ole.			

Table 57 – CEW Event and Deployment Characteristics II – Subjects Under 18 Years of Age, 2010

,	N (2)	0/		N/(5)	0/
# of Timos Stup Mode Used	N (3)	/0	# of Cartridges Fired	N (3)	/0
1	2	66.7		5	100.0
2	1	33.3	2	0	0.0
3	0	0.0	3	0	0.0
4	0	0.0	Mean	1.0	0
5+	0	0.0			-
Mean	1.3	3	Cycle Duration		
			Full	1	20.0
Stun Duration			Partial	2	40.0
Full	0	0.0	Did Not Cycle	2	40.0
Partial	3	100.0			
			# of Cycles		
Stun Impact			0	2	40.0
No Impact	0	0.0	1	2	40.0
Chest/Abdomen	0	0.0	2	1	20.0
Back	0	0.0	3+	0	0.0
Shoulder/Arm	2	66.7	Mean	1.3	3
Lower Body	1	33.3			
Head	0	0.0	Point of Impact – Upper		
			No Impact	1	20.0
			Chest/Abdomen	1	20.0
			Back	3	60.0
			Shoulder/Arm	0	0.0
			Lower Body	0	0.0
			Head	0	0.0
			Point of Impact – Lower		
			No Impact	2	40.0
			Chest/Abdomen	1	20.0
			Back	2	40.0
			Shoulder/Arm	0	0.0
			Lower Body	0	0.0
			Head	0	0.0
			Number of Probe Impacts		
			0 Probe Impact	1	20.0
			1 Probe Impact	1	20.0
			2 Probe Impacts	3	60.0

Table 58 – CEW Injury Characteristics – Subjects Under 18 Years of Age, 2010								
	N (52)	%		N (1)	%			
Usage Injured Subject			Subject Level of Treatment					
No	51	98.1	No Injury	0	0.0			
Yes	1	1.9	No Treatment Required	1	100.0			
			Treated and Released at	0	0.0			
Offered Medical Attention	N (1)	%	Scene					
No	0	0.0	Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0			
Yes	1	100.0	Injury Related to Police					
			Intervention					
Accepted Medical Attention	N (1)	%	Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0			
No	1	100.0	Condition & Injury Related					
Yes	0	0.0	to Police Intervention					
			Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0			
Officer Level of Treatment	N (44)	%	Condition Only					
No Injury	41	93.2						
None Apparent	0	0.0						
Treated and Released	1	2.3						
No Treatment Required	2	4.5						

Table 59 – CEW Reports and Deployments – Mental Health Incidents, 2002–2010										
	Ν	N % of Mental Heath Reports where CEW was Deployed		% Total CEW Reports of Deployment that are Mental Health-Related						
Year										
2002	15	17.4	86.7	21.0						
2003	88	15.4	90.9	15.9						
2004	29	10.9	93.1	11.2						
2005	101	16.4	84.2	16.4						
2006	148	13.1	81.1	13.3						
2007	246	15.4	74.0	16.0						
2008	175	15.6	54.9	16.9						
2009	135	19.4	49.6	24.2						
2010	92	15.4	43.5	19.9						

Table 60 – CEW Occurrence Characteristics – Mental Health Incidents, 2010									
	N (92)	%		N (92)	%				
Division			Duty Type						
Headquarters	0	0.0	General Duty	91	98.9				
National Capital Region (A)	0	0.0	Traffic Services	0	0.0				
Newfoundland and Lab. (B)	2	2.2	Plain Clothes	0	0.0				
Quebec (C)	0	0.0	ERT	0	0.0				
Manitoba (D)	10	10.9	Public Order	1	1.1				
British Columbia (E)	47	51.1	Support Services	0	0.0				
Saskatchewan (F)	8	8.7							
Northwest Territories (G)	0	0.0	Rank						
Nova Scotia (H)	3	3.3	Constable	79	85.9				
New Brunswick (J)	7	7.6	Corporal	13	14.1				
Alberta (K)	11	12.0	Sergeant	0	0.0				
Prince Edward Island (L)	1	1.1	Staff Sergeant	0	0.0				
Yukon (M)	1	1.1							
Ontario (O)	0	0.0							
Nunavut (V)	2	2.2							

Table 61 – CEW Situational and Environmental Characteristics – Mental Health Incidents, 2010								
	N (92)	%		N (90)	%			
Number of RCMP Members Present			Usage Reports Per Member					
1	5	5.4	1	80	88.9			
2	28	30.4	2	7	7.8			
3	19	20.7	3	1	1.1			
4	12	13.0	4	1	1.1			
5	14	15.2	5	1	1.1			
6+	14	15.2	6	0	0.0			
Mean	3.	74	7	0	0.0			
			8	0	0.0			
Setting			9	0	0.0			
Indoor	56	60.9	10+	0	0.0			
Outdoor	25	27.2	Mean	1.	18			
Indoor and Outdoor	11	12.0						

Table 62 – CEW Subject Characteristics – Mental Health Incidents, 2010								
	N (92)	%		N (92)	%			
Sex			Perceived Substance Use					
Female	15	16.3	No	29	31.5			
Male	77	83.7	Yes	63	68.5			
Age			Type of Substance*					
Under 20	13	14.1	Alcohol	43	46.7			
20–29	24	26.1	Drugs	32	34.8			
30–39	27	29.3	Inhalants	0	0.0			
40–49	17	18.5						
50+	11	12.0	Emotionally Disturbed					
Mean	32	2.7	No	4	4.3			
			Yes	88	95.7			
* More than 1 answer per report v	vas poss	ible.						

Table 63 – Event and Deployment Characteristics I – Mental Health Incidents, 2010									
	N (94)	%		N (94)	%				
Subject Behaviour			Deployment Type						
Cooperative	4	4.3	Laser Sight Activated	13	13.8				
Passive Resistant	2	2.1	Spark Display Activated	1	1.1				
Active Resistant	11	11.7	Draw and Display	11	11.7				
Assaultive	18	19.1	Pointed at Subject	27	28.7				
Grievous Harm or Death	59	62.8	Contact Stun Deployed	12	12.8				
Missing	0	0.0	Probe Deployed	30	31.9				
Perceived Threat Greater			Missing	0	0.0				
No	8	8.5	Usage Effective						
Yes	27	28.7	No	13	13.8				
Not Applicable	59	62.8	Yes	81	86.2				
Missing	0	0.0	Missing	0	0.0				
Behaviour Directed at*			Impediments						
Officer	46	48.9	Deflection (Foreign Object)	3	23.1				
Self	71	75.5	Insufficient Power	0	0.0				
Other	14	14.9	Malfunction	1	7.7				
Missing	0	0.0	Moving Target	0	0.0				
Perceived Poss. of Weapon			Missed Subject	1	7.7				
No	15	16.0	Clothing	2	15.4				
Yes	79	84.0	Operator Error	0	0.0				
Missing	0	0.0	Wind	0	0.0				
Type of Weapon*			No Effect on Subject	4	30.8				
Firearm	3	3.2	Other	2	15.4				
Edged	66	70.2	Missing	0	0.0				
Impact	7	7.4	Weapon Model						
Pepper/Bear Spray	0	0.0	CEW M26	6	6.4				
Other	12	12.8	CEW X26	88	93.6				
Missing	0	0.0	Missing	0	0.0				
* More than 1 answer per report w	as possi	ble.							

Table 64 – Event and Deployment Characteristics II – Mental Health Incidents, 2010							
	N (12)	%		N (30)	%		
# of Times Stun Mode Used			# of Cartridges Fired				
1	6	50.0	1	29	96.7		
2	5	41.7	2	0	0.0		
3	0	0.0	3	1	3.3		
4	0	0.0					
5+	1	8.3	Mean	1.0	7		
			Cycle Duration				
Mean	1.1	4	Full	16	53.3		
Stun Duration			Partial	7	23.3		
Full	8	66.7	Did Not Cycle	7	23.3		
Partial	4	33.3					
			# of Cycles				
Stun Impact			0	7	23.3		
No Impact	0	0.0	1	22	73.3		
Chest/Abdomen	0	0.0	2	1	3.3		
Back	5	41.7	3+	0	0.0		
Shoulder/Arm	4	33.3					
Lower Body	3	25.0	Mean	1.0	4		
Head	0	0.0	Point of Impact – Upper				
			No Impact	3	10.0		
			Chest/Abdomen	10	33.3		
			Back	6	20.0		
			Shoulder/Arm	5	16.7		
			Lower Body	6	20.0		
			Head	0	0.0		
			Point of Impact – Lower				
			No Impact	6	20.0		
			Chest/Abdomen	7	23.3		
			Back	5	16.7		
			Shoulder/Arm	1	3.3		
			Lower Body	11	36.7		
			Head	0	0.0		
			Number of Probe Impacts				
			0 Probe Impact	2	6.7		
			1 Probe Impact	5	16.7		
			2 Probe Impacts	23	76.7		

Table 65 – Injury Characteristics – Mental Health Incidents, 2010								
	N (94)	%		N (5)	%			
Usage Injured Subject			Subject Level of Treatment					
No	89	94.7	No Injury	0	0.0			
Yes	5	5.3	No Treatment Required					
			Treated and Released at	1	20.0			
Offered Medical Attention	N (5)	%	Scene					
No	0	0.0	Transported to Hospital –	4	20.0			
Yes	5	100.0	Injury Related to Police	1	20.0			
			Intervention					
Accepted Medical Attention	N (5)	%	Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0			
No	0	0.0	Condition & Injury Related	_				
Yes	5	100.0	to Police Intervention					
			Transported to Hospital –	3	60.0			
Officer Level of Treatment	N (92)	%	Condition Only					
No Injury	91	98.9						
None Apparent	0	0.0						
Treated and Released	0	0.0						
No Treatment Required	1	1.1						

Table 66 – RCMP Detachments with the Most Mental Health-Related CEW Reports, 2010						
Detachment	Division	# Reports				
Surrey (municipal)	British Columbia	5				
Battleford (municipal)	Saskatchewan	4				
North Vancouver City	British Columbia	4				
The Pas (municipal)	Manitoba	4				
District 9 Campbellton	New Brunswick	3				
Comox Valley	British Columbia	2				
Emerson	Manitoba	2				
Fort St. John (municipal)	British Columbia	2				
Iqaluit	Nunavut	2				
Kamloops	British Columbia	2				
Lloydminster (municipal)	Alberta/Saskatchewan	2				
Nanaimo (municipal)	British Columbia	2				
Port Hardy	British Columbia	2				
Smithers	British Columbia	2				
Sooke (municipal)	British Columbia	2				
Strathmore (municipal)	Alberta	2				
Terrace (municipal)	British Columbia	2				

Table 67 – CEW Reports – Northern RCMP Divisions, 2002–2010								
	North Territor	nwest ries (G)	Yuk	Yukon (M)		vut (V)	Total North	
Year	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
2002	23	26.7	20	23.3	2	2.3	45	52.3
2003	51	8.9	36	6.3	16	2.8	103	18.1
2004	4	1.5	11	4.1	8	3.0	23	8.6
2005	28	4.6	11	1.8	20	3.3	59	9.6
2006	27	2.4	17	1.5	27	2.4	71	6.3
2007	62	3.9	40	2.5	47	3.0	149	9.4
2008	39	3.5	11	1.0	25	2.2	75	6.7
2009	15	2.2	13	1.9	14	2.0	42	6.0
2010	6	1.0	11	1.8	7	1.2	24	4.0

Table 68 – CEW Deployments as Percentage of All Deployments –Northern RCMP Divisions, 2002–2010

	North Territor	nwest ries (G)	Yukon (M)		Nunav	vut (V)	Total North	
Year	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
2002	9	14.5	16	25.8	2	3.2	27	43.5
2003	44	8.8	33.0	6.6	13	2.6	90	17.9
2004	4	1.7	11	4.5	7	2.9	22	9.1
2005	23	4.4	8	1.5	18	3.5	49	9.5
2006	20	2.2	17	1.9	24	2.7	61	6.8
2007	38	3.3	30	2.6	41	3.6	109	9.6
2008	15	2.6	6	1.1	18	3.2	39	6.9
2009	3	1.1	6	2.2	9	3.2	18	6.5
2010	1	0.5	2	1.0	5	2.5	8	4.0

Table 69 – CEW Deployments as Percentage of Division Reports –Northern RCMP Divisions, 2002–2010

	North Territor	nwest ries (G)	Yukon (M)		Nunav	vut (V)	Total North	
Year	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
2002	9	39.1	16	80.0	2	100.0	27	60.0
2003	44	86.3	33	91.7	13	81.3	90	87.4
2004	4	100.0	11	100.0	7	87.5	22	95.7
2005	23	82.1	8	72.7	18	90.0	49	83.1
2006	20	74.1	17	100.0	24	88.9	61	85.9
2007	38	61.3	30	75.0	41	87.2	109	73.2
2008	15	38.5	6	54.5	18	72.0	39	52.0
2009	3	20.0	6	46.2	9	64.3	18	42.9
2010	1	16.7	2	18.2	5	71.4	8	33.3

Table 70 – Occurrence Characteristics – Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010						
	N (24)	%		N (24)	%	
Division			Incident Type			
Northwest Territories (G)	6	25.0	Murder/Attempted Murder	0	0.0	
Yukon (M)	11	45.8	Assault	10	41.7	
Nunavut (V)	7	29.2	Sexual Assault	0	0.0	
Duty Type			Assault on Police Officer	1	4.2	
General Duty	24	100.0	Robbery	0	0.0	
Traffic Services	0	0.0	Kidnapping/Confinement	0	0.0	
Plain Clothes	0	0.0	Weapons	0	0.0	
ERT	0	0.0	Mental Health	3	12.5	
Public Order	0	0.0	Threats	3	12.5	
Support Services	0	0.0	Drugs and Alcohol	0	0.0	
Missing	0	0.0	Break and Enter	0	0.0	
Rank			Mischief	0	0.0	
Constable	22	91.7	Disturbing the Peace	0	0.0	
Corporal	2	8.3	Obstruction	6	25.0	
Sergeant	0	0.0	Breach	0	0.0	
Staff Sergeant	0	0.0	Driving while Intoxicated	1	4.2	
Inspector	0	0.0	Other Traffic Offences	0	0.0	
Missing	0	0.0	Other	0	0.0	
			Missing	0	0.0	

Table 71 – Situational and Environmental Characteristics – Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010							
	N (24)	%		N (28)	%		
Number of RCMP Members Present			Usage Reports Per Member				
1	1	4.2	1	13	72.2		
2	13	54.2	2	4	22.2		
3	4	16.7	3	0	0.0		
4	2	8.3	4	1	5.6		
5	3	12.5	5	0	0.0		
6+	1	4.2	6	0	0.0		
Missing	0	0.0	7	0	0.0		
Mean	2.	83		0	0.0		
Setting			9	0	0.0		
Indoor	13	54.2	10+	0	0.0		
Outdoor	9	37.5	Missing	0	0.0		
Indoor and Outdoor	2	8.3	Mean	1.	39		
Missing	0	0.0					

Table 72 – Subject Characteristics – Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010						
	N (24)	%		N (24)	%	
Sex			Perceived Substance Use			
Female	1	4.2	No	5	20.8	
Male	23	95.8	Yes	19	79.2	
Missing	0	0.0	Missing	0	0.0	
Age			Type of Substance*			
Under 20	5	20.8	Alcohol	18	75.0	
20–29	6	25.0	Drugs	6	25.0	
30–39	9	37.5	Inhalants	0	0.0	
40–49	3	12.5	Missing	0	0.0	
50+	1	4.2	Emotionally Disturbed			
Missing	0	0.0	No	10	41.7	
Mean	29.9		Yes	14	58.3	
		Missing	0	0.0		
* More than 1 answer per report was possible.						

Table 73 – Event and Deployment Characteristics I –Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010

	N (24)	%		N (656)	%		
Subject Behaviour			Deployment Type				
Cooperative	1	4.2	Laser Sight Activated	3	12.5		
Passive Resistant	2	8.3	Spark Display Activated	0	0.0		
Active Resistant	4	16.7	Draw and Display	4	16.7		
Assaultive	8	33.3	Pointed at Subject	9	37.5		
Grievous Harm or Death	9	37.5	Contact Stun Deployed	2	8.3		
			Probe Deployed	6	25.0		
Perceived Threat Greater							
No	4	16.7	Usage Effective				
Yes	11	45.8	No	3	12.5		
Not Applicable	9	37.5	Yes	21	87.5		
Behaviour Directed at*			Impediments				
Officer	19	79.2	Deflection (Foreign Object)	0	0.0		
Self	8	33.3	Insufficient Power	0	0.0		
Other	3	12.5	Malfunction	0	0.0		
			Moving Target	0	0.0		
Perceived Poss. of Weapon			Missed Subject	1	4.2		
No	9	37.5	Clothing	0	0.0		
Yes	15	62.5	Operator Error	0	0.0		
			Wind	0	0.0		
Type of Weapon*			No Effect on Subject	0	0.0		
Firearm	0	0.0	Other	2	8.3		
Edged	10	41.7					
Impact	1	4.2	Weapon Model				
Pepper/Bear Spray	0	0.0	CEW M26	0	0.0		
Other	4	16.7	CEW X26	24	100.0		
* More than 1 answer per report was possible.							
· · ·							

Table 74 – Event and Deployme Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010	ent Chai)	racteri	stics II –		
	N (2)	%		N (6)	%
# of Times Stun Mode Used			# of Cartridges Fired		
1	2	100.0	1	5	83.3
2	0	0.0	2	1	16.7
3	0	0.0	3	0	0.0
4	0	0.0			
5+	0	0.0	Mean	1.1	7
			Cycle Duration		
Mean	1.0	0	Full	5	83.3
Stun Duration			Partial	0	0.0
Full	2	100.0	Did Not Cycle	2	16.7
Partial	0	0.0			
			# of Cycles		
Stun Impact			0	1	16.7
No Impact	0	0.0	1	5	83.3
Chest/Abdomen	0	0.0	2	0	0.0
Back	1	50.0	3+	0	0.0
Shoulder/Arm	1	50.0			
Lower Body	0	0.0	Mean	1.0	0
Head	0	0.0	Point of Impact – Upper		
			No Impact	0	0.0
			Chest/Abdomen	1	16.7
			Back	1	16.7
			Shoulder/Arm	3	50.0
			Lower Body	1	16.7
			Head	0	0.0
			Point of Impact – Lower		
			No Impact	1	16.7
			Chest/Abdomen	2	33.3
			Back	1	16.7
			Shoulder/Arm	1	16.7
			Lower Body	1	16.7
			Head	0	0.0
			Number of Probe Impacts		
			0 Probe Impact	0	0.0
			1 Probe Impact	1	16.7
			2 Probe Impacts	5	83.3

Table 75 – Injury Characteristics – Northern RCMP Divisions, 2010							
	N (24)	%		N (0)	%		
Usage Injured Subject			Subject Level of Treatment				
No	24	100.0	No Injury	0	100.0		
Yes	0	0.0	No Treatment Required	0	0.0		
			Treated and Released at	0	0.0		
Offered Medical Attention	N (0)	%	Scene				
No	0	0.0	Transported to Hospital – Injury Related to Police	0	0.0		
Yes	0	0.0					
			Intervention				
Accepted Medical Attention	N (0)	%	Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0		
No	0	0.0	Condition & Injury Related				
Yes	0	0.0	to Police Intervention				
			Transported to Hospital –	0	0.0		
Officer Level of Treatment	N (24)	%	Condition Only				
No Injury	21	87.5					
None Apparent	0	0.0					
Treated and Released	1	4.2					
No Treatment Required	2	8.3					

Table 76 – Subject Behaviour Details, 2010						
	N (656)	%				
Subject Behaviour						
Cooperative	13	2.0				
Cooperative + Greater Perceived Threat/Risk Level	52	7.9				
Passive Resistant	4	0.6				
Passive Resistant + Greater Perceived Threat/Risk Level	32	4.9				
Active Resistant	23	3.5				
Active Resistant + Greater Perceived Threat/Risk Level	100	15.2				
Assaultive	109	16.6				
Assaultive + Greater Perceived Threat/Risk Level	131	20.0				
Grievous Harm or Death	192	29.3				
Table 77 – Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level by Perceived Weapons Involvement, 2010						
--	--------------------------	--------------	-------------	--		
	Perceived Threat Greater					
Perceived Possession of Weapon	No	Yes	Total			
No	102 43.2%	134 56.8%	236			
Yes	47 20.6%	181 79.4%	228			
Total	149 32.1%	315 67.9%	464 100%			
$\chi^2 = 27.16, df = 1, p = .000$						

Table 78 – Type of Weapon by Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level, 2010					
	Type of Weapon				
Perceived Threat Greater	Firearm	Edged	Impact	Pepper Spray	Other
No	295	213	283	311	238
	66.6%	62.1%	67.7%	67.8%	65.4%
Yes	20	102	32	4	77
	95.2%	84.3%	69.9%	80.0%	77.0%
	$\chi^2 = 7.55,$	$\chi^2 = 20.22,$	$\chi^2 = 0.66,$	$\chi^2 = 0.34,$	$\chi^2 = 0.08,$
	df = 1,	df = 1,	df = 1,	df = 1,	df = 1,
	p = .004	p = .000	p = .869	p = .676	p = .030

Table 79 – Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level by Perceived Substance Use, 2010			
	Perceived Th		
Perceived Substance Use	No	Yes	Total
No	44 42.3%	60 57.7%	104
Yes	105 29.2%	255 70.8%	360
Total	149 32.1%	315 67.9%	464 100%
$\chi^2 = 6.39, df = 1, p = .017$			

Table 80 – Type of Substance by Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level, 2010				
	Type of Substance			
Perceived Threat Greater	Alcohol	Drugs	Inhalants	
No	97	207	313	
	64.7%	63.7%	68.0%	
Yes	218	108	2	
	69.4%	77.7%	50.0%	
	$\chi^2 = 1.06,$	$\chi^2 = 8.76,$	$\chi^2 = 0.60,$	
	df = 1,	df = 1,	df = 1,	
	p = .339	p = .003	p = .597	

Table 81 – Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level by Emotional Disturbance, 2010			
	Perceived Th		
Emotionally Disturbed	No	Yes	Total
No	101 33.2	203 66.8	304
Yes	48 30.0	112 70.0	160
Total	149 32.1%	315 67.9%	464 100%
χ ² = 0.50, <i>df</i> = 1, <i>p</i> = .531			

Table 82 – Perceived Greater Threat/Risk Level by Number of Police Officers, 2010				
	Perceived Th			
Number of Police Officers	No	Yes	Total	
1	21 32.8%	43 67.2%	64	
2 or more	128 32.0%	272 68.0%	400	
Total	149 32.1%	315 67.9%	464 100%	
$\chi^2 = 0.02, df = 1, p = .886$				

Table 83 – Deployment Type (Most Serious) by Subject, 2010					
	N (637)	%			
Subject Behaviour					
Laser Sight Activated	103	16.2			
Spark Display Activated	4	0.6			
Draw and Display	99	15.5			
Pointed at Subject	225	35.3			
Contact Stun Deployed	72	11.3			
Probe Deployed	129	20.3			
Push-Stun and Probe Deployed	5	0.8			

APPENDIX 3A: GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Activation – Activation occurs when the safety is released on the CEW and/or the CEW is cycled in push-stun or probe mode.

Conducted Energy Weapon (CEW) – A device that delivers high voltage, low current, shocks to a subject, designed to cause temporary incapacitation through involuntary muscle disruption or pain compliance. Also referred to as a conducted energy device (CED), electronic control device (ECD), stun gun or TASER[®].

CEW Challenge – Standard form of police articulation, prior to the use of the CEW, designed to identify the officer and make the subject aware of the consequences of CEW deployment (Example: "Police – stop – or you will be hit with 50,000 volts of electricity!").

Division – As part of its structure, the RCMP organizes itself into 15 divisions which are roughly equivalent geographically to Canada's 10 provinces, three territories, the National Capital Region and Depot (the RCMP's training academy in Regina, Saskatchewan).

Probe Mode – Deploying an activated CEW by discharging two electrical probes, equipped with small barbs that hook onto a subject's clothing or skin, allowing electrical energy to be transferred to that individual.

Regular Member (Police Officers) – For the purpose of the present report, the term "member" refers to regular RCMP officers who are trained and sworn as peace officers. Civilian members and public service employees of the RCMP are not authorized to use CEWs.

Push-Stun Mode – Pressing or pushing an activated CEW onto a subject's body, allowing electrical energy to be transferred to that individual.

Taser[®] – Brand name for the conducted energy weapon used by the RCMP. There are also other companies that manufacture similar devices.

APPENDIX 3B: LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- CED Conducted Energy Device
- CEW Conducted Energy Weapon
- CIC Chair-Initiated Complaint
- Commission Commission for Public Complaints Against the Royal Canadian Mounted Police
- IM/IM Incident Management / Intervention Model
- RCMP Royal Canadian Mounted Police
- SB/OR Subject Behaviour / Officer Response

APPENDIX 4: REFERENCES

Baldwin, Simon and Kim Lackie. <u>RCMP Quarterly Report on Conducted Energy Weapons, July</u> <u>1, 2010 to September 30, 2010</u>. Ottawa: National Use of Force Unit, Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

Braidwood Commission of Inquiry on Conducted Energy Weapon Use (2009). <u>Restoring Public</u> <u>Confidence: Restricting the Use of Conducted Energy Weapons in British Columbia</u>. Vancouver, British Columbia: Braidwood Commission of Inquiry on Conducted Energy Use.

Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP (2007). <u>RCMP Use of the Conducted</u> <u>Energy Weapon (CEW): Interim Report</u>. Ottawa: Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police (2011). "Incident Management/Intervention Model".<u>http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/ccaps-spcca/cew-ai/imim-migi-eng.htm#imim</u>, accessed on November 7, 2011.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police (2010). <u>Progress: Transformation of the Royal Canadian</u> <u>Mounted Police</u>. Ottawa: Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police (2010). "Conducted Energy Weapon." <u>Operational Manual</u>. Amended on April 29, 2010. Ottawa: Royal Canadian Mounted Police.